You can view the agenda on the website
or use a smart phone camera and scan the code
To:

County Hall
Topsham Road
Exeter
Devon
EX2 4QD

The Chair and Members
of the Audit Committee

Date: 22 June 2021

Contact: Fred Whitehouse, 01392 381362
Email: fred.whitehouse@devon.gov.uk
AUDIT COMMITTEE
Wednesday, 30th June, 2021

A meeting of the Audit Committee is to be held on the above date at 2.15 pm at
Committee Suite - County Hall to consider the following matters.
Phil Norrey
Chief Executive
AGENDA

PART I - OPEN COMMITTEE
1

Apologies for absence

2

Minutes
Minutes of the meeting held on 25 February 2021 (previously circulated).

3

Items Requiring Urgent Attention
Items which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered at the meeting as a
matter of urgency.

4

Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 (Pages 1 - 26)
Report provided by Grant Thornton via the County Treasurer
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

5

External Audit Plan for Devon County Council 2020/21 (Pages 27 - 52)
Report provided by Grant Thornton via the County Treasurer
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

6

External Audit Plan for Devon Pension Fund 2020/21 (Pages 53 - 74)
Report provided by Grant Thornton via the County Treasurer
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

7

Internal Audit Annual Report 2020/21 (Pages 75 - 112)
Report of the County Treasurer (CT/21/247)
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

8

Risk Management Annual Report 2020/21 (Pages 113 - 128)
Report of the County Treasurer (CT/21/48)
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

9

Counter Fraud Policy and Strategy & Response Plan (Pages 129 - 148)
Report of the County Treasurer (CT/21/49)
Electoral Divisions(s): All Divisions

10

Future Meetings
Please use link below for County Council Calendar of Meetings:
http://democracy.devon.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=161&Year=0
PART II - ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF PRESS AND
PUBLIC ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT INFORMATION MAY BE
DISCLOSED

Members are reminded that Part II Reports contain exempt information and should
therefore be treated accordingly. They should not be disclosed or passed on to any
other person(s). They need to be disposed of carefully and should be returned to the
Democratic Services Officer at the conclusion of the meeting for disposal.

MEETINGS INFORMATION AND NOTES FOR VISITORS
Getting to County Hall and Notes for Visitors
For SatNav purposes, the postcode for County Hall is EX2 4QD
Further information about how to get to County Hall gives information on visitor
parking at County Hall and bus routes.
Exeter has an excellent network of dedicated cycle routes. For further information
see the Travel Devon webpages.
The nearest mainline railway stations are Exeter Central (5 minutes from the High
Street), St David’s and St Thomas. All have regular bus services to the High Street.
Visitors to County Hall are asked to report to Main Reception on arrival. If visitors
have any specific requirements, please contact reception on 01392 382504
beforehand.
Membership of a Committee
For full details of the Membership of a Committee, please visit the Committee page
on the website and click on the name of the Committee you wish to see.
Committee Terms of Reference
For the terms of reference for any Committee, please visit the Committee page on
the website and click on the name of the Committee. Under purpose of Committee,
the terms of reference will be listed. Terms of reference for all Committees are also
detailed within Section 3b of the Council’s Constitution.
Access to Information
Any person wishing to inspect any minutes, reports or background papers relating to
an item on the agenda should contact the Clerk of the Meeting. To find this, visit the
Committee page on the website and find the Committee. Under contact information
(at the bottom of the page) the Clerk’s name and contact details will be present. All
agenda, reports and minutes of any Committee are published on the Website
Public Participation
The Council operates a Public Participation Scheme where members of the public
can interact with various Committee meetings in a number of ways. For full details of
whether or how you can participate in a meeting, please look at the Public
Participation Scheme or contact the Clerk for the meeting.
In relation to Highways and Traffic Orders Committees, any member of the District
Council or a Town or Parish Councillor for the area covered by the HATOC who is
not a member of the Committee, may attend and speak to any item on the Agenda
with the consent of the Committee, having given 24 hours’ notice.
Webcasting, Recording or Reporting of Meetings and Proceedings
The proceedings of any meeting may be recorded and / or broadcasted live, apart
from any confidential items which may need to be considered in the absence of the
press and public. For more information go to our webcasting pages

Anyone wishing to film part or all of the proceedings may do so unless the press and
public are excluded for that part of the meeting or there is good reason not to do so,
as directed by the Chair. Filming must be done as unobtrusively as possible without
additional lighting; focusing only on those actively participating in the meeting and
having regard to the wishes of others present who may not wish to be filmed.
Anyone wishing to film proceedings is asked to advise the Chair or the Democratic
Services Officer in attendance.
Members of the public may also use social media to report on proceedings.
Declarations of Interest for Members of the Council
It is to be noted that Members of the Council must declare any interest they may
have in any item to be considered at this meeting, prior to any discussion taking
place on that item.
WiFI
An open, publicly available Wi-Fi network (i.e. DCC) is normally available for
meetings held in the Committee Suite at County Hall.
Fire
In the event of the fire alarm sounding, leave the building immediately by the nearest
available exit following the fire exit signs. If doors fail to unlock press the Green
break glass next to the door. Do not stop to collect personal belongings; do not use
the lifts; and do not re-enter the building until told to do so. Assemble either on the
cobbled car parking area adjacent to the administrative buildings or in the car park
behind Bellair.
First Aid
Contact Main Reception (Extension 2504) for a trained first aider.
Mobile Phones
Please switch off all mobile phones before entering the Committee Room or Council
Chamber
Alternative Formats

If anyone needs a copy of an Agenda and/or a Report in
another format (e.g. large print, audio tape, Braille or other
languages), please contact the Customer Service Centre on
0345 155 1015 or email: committee@devon.gov.uk or write to
the Democratic and Scrutiny Secretariat in G31, County Hall,
Exeter, EX2 4QD.
Induction Loop available

Agenda Item 4

Commercial in confidence

Audit Committee
30 June 2021
2019/20 Annual Audit Letter for Devon County Council and Devon Pension Fund
Report provided by Grant Thornton via the County Treasurer
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee
before taking effect.
Recommendation: that the Committee approves the attached audit plan
1. The attached report is a public facing summary of the work undertaken by the Council’s External
Auditors for 2019/20. The main findings within this report were previously discussed with the
Audit Committee in February 2021 in the auditor’s Audit Findings Report.

Mary Davis
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries:
David Bray | Senior Manager | Audit
For Grant Thornton UK LLP
2 Glass Wharf | Bristol | BS2 0EL
T (direct) +44 (0)117 305 7889
E david.bray@uk.gt.com | W grantthornton.co.uk

Background Paper: None

Page 1

The Annual Audit Letter
for Devon County Council and
Pension Fund
Page 3

Year ended 31 March 2020
21 June 2021

Commercial in confidence

Contents
Section
1. Executive Summary

3

2. Audit of the Financial Statements

5

3. Value for Money conclusion

Your key Grant Thornton
team members are:

Page

15

Appendix
A

Reports issued and fees

Page 4

Julie Masci
Key Audit Partner
T: 029 2034 7506

E: julie.masci@uk.gt.com

David Bray
Senior Manager
T: 0117 305 7889
E: david.bray@uk.gt.com

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

2

Commercial in confidence

Executive Summary
Purpose
Our Annual Audit Letter (Letter) summarises the key findings arising from the
work that we have carried out at Devon County Council (the Council) and the
Pension Fund for the year ended 31 March 2020.
This Letter is intended to provide a commentary on the results of our work to
the Council and external stakeholders, and to highlight issues that we wish to
draw to the attention of the public. In preparing this Letter, we have followed
the National Audit Office (NAO)'s Code of Audit Practice and Auditor
Guidance Note (AGN) 07 – 'Auditor Reporting'. We reported the detailed
findings from our audit work to the Council's Audit Committee as those
charged with governance in our Audit Findings Report on 25 February 2021.

Respective responsibilities
We have carried out our audit in accordance with the NAO's Code of Audit Practice,
which reflects the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the
Act). Our key responsibilities are to:
• give an opinion on the Council's financial statements (section two)
• assess the Council's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources (the value for money conclusion) (section
three).
In our audit of the Council’s financial statements, we comply with International
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs) and other guidance issued by the NAO.

Page 5

Our work
Materiality

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s financial statements to be £16.5m, which is 1.5% of the Council's gross
expenditure for the prior year.
We determined materiality for the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial statements to be £40.1m, which is 1% of the total net
assets at 31 March 2020.

Financial Statements opinion

We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial statements on 3 March 2021.
We included a emphasis of matter paragraph in our auditors report in respect of the uncertainty over valuations of the Council's
land and buildings and property investments within its share of the Pension Fund. We included a similar paragraph in our
auditors report for the Pension Fund in respect of property investments, all due to the Covid-19 pandemic. This does not affect
our opinion that the statements give a true and fair view of the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial position and the income
and expenditure for the year.

Whole of Government Accounts
(WGA)

We completed work on the Council’s consolidation return following guidance issued by the NAO on 21 June 2021. There was a
delay in the completion of this work after we issued our opinion on the Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 as the Council needed to investigate mismatches with a Government department. These were satisfactorily
resolved.

Use of statutory powers

We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

3

Commercial in confidence

Executive Summary
Value for Money arrangements

We were satisfied that the Council put in place proper arrangements to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources except for the serious failings identified by Ofsted in January 2020 during their inspection of Children’s Social Care
Services and which resulted in a judgement of ‘inadequate’ for overall effectiveness.
We therefore qualified our value for money conclusion in our audit report to the Council on 3 March 2021.

Certificate

We certified that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Devon County Council in accordance with the
requirements of the Code of Audit Practice on 21 June 2021.

Page 6
We would like to record our appreciation for the assistance and
co-operation provided to us during our audit by the Council's staff.
Grant Thornton UK LLP
June 2021

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

4

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements
Our audit approach
Materiality
In our audit of the Council’s and Pension Fund’s financial statements, we use
the concept of materiality to determine the nature, timing and extent of our
work, and in evaluating the results of our work. We define materiality as the
size of the misstatement in the financial statements that would lead a
reasonably knowledgeable person to change or influence their economic
decisions.

Page 7

We determined materiality for the audit of the Council’s financial statements
to be £16.5m, which is 1.5% of the Council’s gross expenditure in the
previous year. We used this benchmark as, in our view, the users of the
Council's financial statements are most interested in where the Council has
spent its revenue in the year.
We determined materiality for the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial
statements to be £40.1m, which is 1% of the total net assets. We used this
benchmark as, in our view, the users of the Pension Fund’s financial
statements are most interested in where the Fund has invested the monies
necessary to cover future pension obligations
We also set a lower level of specific materiality for senior officer
remuneration of £20k.

The scope of our audit
Our audit involves obtaining sufficient evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements to give reasonable assurance that they are free from material
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes assessing whether:
• the accounting policies are appropriate, have been consistently applied and
adequately disclosed;
• the significant accounting estimates made by management are reasonable; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements gives a true and fair view.
We also read the remainder of the Statement of Accounts to check it is consistent with
our understanding of the Council and with the financial statements included in the
Statement of Accounts on which we gave our opinion.
We carry out our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK) and the NAO Code of Audit
Practice. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council’s and
Pension Fund’s business and is risk based.
We identified key risks and set out overleaf the work we performed in response to
these risks and the results of this work.

We set a lower threshold of £800k for the Council and £2m for the Pension
Fund above which we reported errors to the Audit Committee in our Audit
Findings Report.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

5

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Findings and conclusions

Covid– 19

We :

The Council responded well to the challenge
of remote working and was able to produce
draft financial statements on 1 August 2020.
This was in accordance with the agreed
timetable and was ahead of the national
deadline (31 August 2020), although it was
two months later than in the previous year.

•

•

•

•

Page 8

The global outbreak of the Covid-19 virus pandemic has
led to unprecedented uncertainty for all organisations,
requiring urgent business continuity arrangements to be
implemented. We expect current circumstances will have
an impact on the production and audit of the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, including
and not limited to:

remote working arrangements and redeployment of
staff to critical front line duties may impact on the
quality and timing of the production of the financial
statements, and the evidence we can obtain through
physical observation
volatility of financial and property markets will
increase the uncertainty of assumptions applied by
management to asset valuation and receivable
recovery estimates, and the reliability of evidence we
can obtain to corroborate management estimates

•

worked with management to understand the implications the response
to the Covid-19 pandemic had on the Council’s ability to prepare the
financial statements and update financial forecasts and assessed the
implications on our audit approach. No changes were made to
materiality levels previously reported.

•

liaised with other audit suppliers, regulators and government
departments to co-ordinate practical cross sector responses to issues
as and when they arose;

•

evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements
that arose in light of the Covid-19 pandemic;

•

evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence could be obtained through
remote technology;

•

•

financial uncertainty will require management to
reconsider financial forecasts supporting their going
concern assessment and whether material
uncertainties for a period of at least 12 months from
the anticipated date of approval of the audited
financial statements have arisen; and
disclosures within the financial statements will require
significant revision to reflect the unprecedented
situation and its impact on the preparation of the
financial statements as at 31 March 2020 in
accordance with IAS1, particularly in relation to
material uncertainties.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

The Council identified a material uncertainty
in relation to land and building valuations and
disclosed this within its draft financial
statements.

The Council subsequently extended this
disclosure to reflect similar material
uncertainties to those with its directly owned
land and buildings to the property investments
evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence could be obtained to
corroborate significant management estimates such as asset valuations held by Devon Pension Fund that are
attributable to the County Council within its
and recovery of receivable balances; and
net liability related to the Defined Benefit
evaluated management’s assumptions that underpin the revised
Pension Scheme calculation.
financial forecasts and the impact on management’s going concern
We referred to both of these material
assessment.
uncertainties in our audit opinion.
The financial challenges into the medium term
have also increased due to the lost income,
additional costs and the uncertainty of future
Government funding in respect of Covid-19.

6

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Findings and conclusions

The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the
revenue streams at the Authority, when producing our audit plan we
determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition could be
rebutted because:

At the planning stage we therefore did not
consider this to be a significant risk for Devon
County Council.

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk
that revenue may be misstated due to the improper
recognition of revenue.
This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor
concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement
due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.

•

there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

•

opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited; and

•

the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Devon
County Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.

Page 9

Management over-ride of controls

We :

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed
risk that the risk of management over-ride of controls is
present in all entities.

•

evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over
journals;

•

undertaken testing to ensure the completeness of the journals listing;

We therefore identified management override of control,
in particular journals, management estimates and
transactions outside the course of business as a
significant risk, which was one of the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement.

•

analysed the journals listing and determined the criteria for selecting
high risk unusual journals;

•

gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical
judgements applied made by management and considered their
reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence; and

•

evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies,
estimates or significant unusual transactions.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

We reconsidered this as part of our audit work
on the financial statements and no new
information has come to light to change our
original assessment

There are no matters we wish to report to the
based on the work undertaken.

7

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Valuation of land and buildings

We :

The Authority revalues its land and buildings on a rolling
five-yearly basis.

•

Page 10

This valuation represents a significant estimate by
management in the financial statements due to the size
of the numbers involved (£1.4 billion) and the sensitivity
of this estimate to changes in key assumptions.
Additionally, management will need to ensure the
carrying value in the Authority financial statements is not
materially different from the current value or the fair
value (for surplus assets) at the financial statements
date, where a rolling programme is used.
We therefore identified valuation of land and buildings,
particularly revaluations and impairments, as a
significant risk, which was one of the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement, and a key audit
matter.

•
•

•

Findings and conclusions

As part of our increased challenge to
evaluated management's processes and assumptions for the calculation management on the valuation of property,
plant and equipment we sought a deeper
of the estimate, the instructions issued to valuation experts and the
understanding on the basis of valuation for
scope of their work;
the two energy from waste plants. As a result
evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation
of this challenge, Management sought
expert;
additional advice from its valuer who provided
written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuations were
an updated valuation which was
carried out;
approximately £19m higher than the original
valuation. The financial statements were
engaged our own valuer to assess the instructions to the Council’s
amended accordingly.
valuer, their reports and the assumptions that underpinned the
valuations; we have reviewed their feedback and are satisfied that there
are no issues that would impact on our strategy or that we need to
report to Those Charged with Governance;

•

reconciled the valuation report to the financial statements;

•

tested a sample of revaluations made during the year to see if they had
been input correctly into the Council’s asset register;

•

challenged the information and assumptions used by the valuer to
assess completeness and consistency with our understanding and
reviewed the evidence underpinning a sample of revaluations;

•

engaged support from our valuation auditor’s expert to assess the
methodology used by the Council’s valuer to value the two Energy from
Waste (EfW) plants; and

•

evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not
revalued during the year and how management has satisfied
themselves that these are not materially different to current value at
year end.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

In line with RICS guidance, the valuer
employed by the Council included a material
uncertainty in their final valuation report.
Officers reflected this uncertainty in the
disclosures within the financial statements.
We included an emphasis of matter
paragraph in our audit opinion which refers to
this disclosure in the accounts and draws
attention to it for the readers of the financial
statements. This reflects the increased
uncertainty in global markets created by
Covid-19 and is in line with other local
councils.

8

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Council)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work.
How we responded to the risk

Findings and conclusions

Valuation of the pension fund net liability
The Authority's pension fund net liability, as reflected in
its balance sheet as the net defined benefit liability,
represented a significant estimate in the financial
statements.

We:

The pension fund net liability was considered a
significant estimate due to the size of the numbers
involved (£1 billion in the Authority’s balance sheet) and
the sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key
assumptions.

Page 11

Risks identified in our audit plan

We therefore identified valuation of the Authority’s
pension fund net liability as a significant risk, which was
one of the most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement.

•

evaluated the design of the controls put in place by management to
ensure that this liability is not materially misstated;

•

evaluated the instructions issued by management to their expert for this
estimate and the scope of the actuary’s work;

•

assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary
who carried out the Authority’s pension fund valuation;

•

tested the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and
disclosures in the financial statements with the actuary’s report;

The Pension Fund’s financial statements
disclosed a material uncertainty regarding the
valuations of property investments at the year
end. Given the significant share of the
Pension Fund assets that are attributable to
Devon County Council, there is a similar
material uncertainty associated with the
Council’s pension net liability and a new
disclosure was included with the Council’s
accounts.

•

assessed the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made by
reviewing the report of our auditor’s expert and performed the additional
procedures suggested by them;

Our audit opinion referred to this disclosure as
an ‘emphasis of matter’. Our opinion was not
qualified in this respect.

•

sought assurances from the auditor of the Devon Pension Fund as to
the controls surrounding the validity and accuracy of membership data,
contributions data and benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension
fund and the fund assets valuation in the pension fund financial
statements.;

•

assessed the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by
the Authority to the actuary to estimate the liability; and

•

gained an understanding from the Actuary of the experience items
following the most recent triennial review.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

9

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the Pension Fund.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Findings and conclusions

Covid–19

We:

The Fund responded well to the challenge of
remote working and were able to produce
draft financial statements in accordance with
the agreed timetable, albeit this was a month
later than in previous years.

The global outbreak of Covid-19 has led to
unprecedented uncertainty for all organisations. We
expect current circumstances will have had an impact on
the production and audit of the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2020, including:
•

•

•

•

Page 12

•

remote working arrangements and redeployment of
staff to critical front line duties may have impacted on
the quality and timing of the production of the
financial statements, and the evidence we can obtain
through physical observation;
volatility of financial and property markets will have
increased the uncertainty of assumptions applied by
management to valuations, and the reliability of
evidence we can use to corroborate these estimates;

•

worked with management to understand the implications the response
to the Covid-19 pandemic had on the organisation’s ability to prepare
the financial statements and update financial forecasts and assessed
the implications on our materiality calculations and audit approach;

•

The Pension Fund has disclosed that a
liaised with other audit suppliers, regulators and government
departments to co-ordinate practical cross sector responses to issues as material uncertainty exists in respect of
property assets held by the Fund and we
and when they arise;
referred to this in our audit opinion as an
evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures in the financial statements in ‘emphasis of matter’. Our opinion was not
light of the Covid-19 pandemic, including management’s assessment of qualified in this respect.
the impact of Covid-19 upon forecast cashflows;

•

•

•
for instruments classified as fair value through profit
and loss there may be a need to review the Level 1-3 •
classification of the instruments if trading has reduced
to such an extent that quoted prices are not readily
and regularly available;
•
whilst the nature of the Fund and its funding position
means the going concern basis of preparation is
appropriate, management may need to consider
whether material uncertainties for a period of at least
12 months from the anticipated date of approval of
the audited financial statements have arisen; and

evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence using alternative
approaches can be obtained for the purposes of our audit whilst working
remotely;
evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence can be obtained to
corroborate management’s fair value hierarchy disclosure;
evaluated whether sufficient audit evidence can be obtained to
corroborate significant management estimates such as Level 3 asset
valuations; and

discussed with management any potential implications for our audit
report if we have been unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence.

disclosures within the financial statements will require
significant revision to reflect the unprecedented
situation and its impact on the preparation of the
financial statements as at 31 March 2020 in
accordance with IAS1, particularly in relation to
material uncertainties.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

10

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the Pension Fund.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the
revenue streams at the Fund, we determined that the risk of fraud arising
Under ISA (UK) 240 there was a rebuttable presumed
from revenue recognition could be rebutted, because:
risk that revenue may be misstated due to the improper
• there was little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;
recognition of revenue.
This presumption could be rebutted if the auditor
• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition were very limited; and
concluded that there is no risk of material misstatement
• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Devon
due to fraud relating to revenue recognition.
Pension Fund, meant that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable.
The revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions

We:

Under ISA (UK) 240 there was a non-rebuttable
presumed risk that the risk of management over-ride of
controls was present in all entities.

•

evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over
journals;

•

analysed the journals listing and determined the criteria for selecting
high risk unusual journals;

•

tested unusual journals recorded during the year and after the draft
accounts stage for appropriateness and corroboration;

•

gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical
judgements applied made by management and considered their
reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence; and

•

evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies,
estimates or significant unusual transactions.

Page 13

Management override of controls

We therefore identified management override of control,
in particular journals, management estimates and
transactions outside the course of business as a
significant risk, which was one of the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

Findings and conclusions
We did not consider this to be a significant
risk for Devon Pension Fund.

There are no matters to report based on the
work undertaken.

11

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the Pension Fund.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Findings and conclusions

Valuation of Level 3 Investments

We:

There are no matters to report based on the
work undertaken.

The Fund revalues its investments on an annual basis to
ensure that the carrying value is not materially different
from the fair value at the financial statements date.

•

evaluated management's processes for valuing Level 3 investments;

•

reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered what
assurance management has over the year end valuations provided for
these types of investments;
independently requested year-end confirmations from investment
managers;

Under ISA 315, significant risks often relate to significant •
non-routine transactions and judgemental matters. Level
3 investments by their very nature require a significant
•
degree of judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at
year end.

tested revaluations made during the year to see if they had been input
correctly into the Pension Fund’s asset register; and

Page 14

•
By their nature Level 3 investment valuations lack
observable inputs. These valuations therefore
represented a significant estimate by management in the •
financial statements due to the size of the numbers
involved (£158 million at 31 March 2019) and the
sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key
assumptions.

for a sample of investments, tested the valuation by obtaining and
reviewing the audited accounts, (where available) at the latest date for
individual investments and agreed these to the fund manager reports at
that date. We reconciled those values to the values at 31 March 2020
with reference to known movements in the intervening period;

where available reviewed investment manager service auditor reports
on design effectiveness of internal controls.

Management utilised the services of investment
managers as valuation experts to estimate the fair value
as at 31 March 2020.
We therefore identified valuation of Level 3 investments
as a significant risk.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

12

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements (Pension Fund)
Significant Audit Risks
These are the significant risks which had the greatest impact on our overall strategy and where we focused more of our work on the Pension Fund.
Risks identified in our audit plan

How we responded to the risk

Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement
Benefits

We:

The Fund disclosed the Actuarial Present Value of
Promised Retirement Benefits within its Notes to the
Accounts. This represented a significant estimate in the
financial statements.

•

•

Page 15

•
The Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement
Benefits is considered a significant estimate due to the
size of the numbers involved (£7.4 billion in 2018/19) and •
the sensitivity of the estimate to changes in key
assumptions.
•
We therefore identified valuation of the Fund’s Actuarial
Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits as a
•
significant risk, which was one of the most significant
assessed risks of material misstatement.

Findings and conclusions

There are no matters to report based on the
updated our understanding of the processes and controls put in place by work undertaken.
management to ensure that the Fund’s Actuarial Present Value of
Promised Retirement Benefits was not materially misstated and
evaluate the design of the associated controls;
evaluated the instructions issued by management to their management
expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the scope of the actuary’s work;
assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary
who carried out the Fund’s pension fund valuation;
assessed the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by
the Fund to the actuary to estimate the liability;
tested the consistency of disclosures with the actuarial report from the
actuary; and
undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial
assumptions made by reviewing the report of the consulting actuary (as
auditor’s expert) and performing any additional procedures suggested
within the report.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

13

Commercial in confidence

Audit of the Financial Statements
Audit opinion
We gave an unqualified opinion on the Council’s and Pension Fund’s
financial statements on 3 March 2021.
Preparation of the financial statements
The Council presented us with draft financial statements in August 2020 (July
2020 for the Pension Fund) in accordance with the agreed timescale.
The finance team responded promptly and efficiently to our queries during
the course of the audits, although undertaking the audit remotely inevitably
took longer.

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
We carried out work in line with instructions provided by the NAO . We issued an
assurance statement which did not identify any issues for the group auditor to
consider on 21 June 2021. There was a delay in the completion of this work after we
issued our opinion on the Council’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 as the Council needed to investigate mismatches with a Government
department. These were satisfactorily resolved.
Certificate of closure of the audit
We certified that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of Devon
County Council in accordance with the requirements of the Code of Audit Practice on
21 June 2021.

Page 16

Issues arising from the audit of the financial statements
We reported the key issues from our audit to the Council's Audit Committee
on 25 February 2021.
No additional matters came to light between that Committee meeting and 3
March 2021 when we issued our opinion on the County Council’s and
Pension Fund’s financial statements.
Annual Governance Statement and Narrative Report
We are also required to review the Council’s Annual Governance Statement
and Narrative Report. It published them on its website in the draft Statement
of Accounts in August 2020.
Our review of the Council’s original Annual Governance Statement identified
that the most recent Ofsted Inspection (see page 20) had not been referred
to and we suggested that the Annual Governance Statement was updated to
reflect this weakness. This was done and we confirmed that both documents
were consistent with the financial statements prepared by the Council and
with our knowledge of the Council and that they were prepared in line with
the CIPFA Code and relevant supporting guidance.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

14

Commercial in confidence

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)
Background

Overall Value for Money conclusion

We carried out our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit
Practice, following the guidance issued by the NAO in April 2020 which
specified the criterion for auditors to evaluate:

We are satisfied that, in all significant respects, except for the matter we identified
overleaf, the Council put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 2020.

In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions
and deploys resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for
taxpayers and local people.

Page 17

Key findings
Our first step in carrying out our work was to perform a risk assessment and
identify the risks where we concentrated our work.
The risks we identified and the work we performed are set out overleaf.
As part of our Audit Findings report agreed with the Council in February
2021, we agreed recommendations to address our findings.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

15

Commercial in confidence

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)
Value for Money Risks
Commentary

Findings and conclusions

Financial resilience
Local Authorities are still experiencing
significant financial challenges and the
one-year settlement for 2020/21 (compared
to the previous four year settlement) makes
financial planning over the medium term
difficult.

Covid-19

Please see page 19.

Page 18

Risks identified in our audit plan

For Devon County Council, the 2020/21
budget requires savings of £7.5m to be
delivered and a net reduction in reserves of
£3.4m in order to achieve a balanced
budget.

We will review the budget for 2020/21 and
the Council’s medium term financial plan
and will assess any future reliance on
reserves and the savings being delivered
by the transformation programme 'doing
what matters'.

Since the issue of our Audit Plan the Council has been significantly affected by the Covid19 pandemic. The impact began in late March so the effect on the VFM arrangements was
limited in 2019/20, but we have considered the effect on the Council’s medium term
financial strategy and business continuity planning.
As far as the Covid-19 spending is concerned, the Council received £22.5m from the
Government in March 2020.Of this, £843,000 has been used to offset the costs incurred in
2019/20 the remaining £21.7m has been carried forward to 2020/21 where the remaining
costs will be incurred.
In 2020/21 the Council continues to receive financial support, the most significant of which
is the Local Authority Covid Support Grant. Taking into account all the funding received,
the Council is forecasting a shortfall associated with Covid-19 of approximately £4m. If
further funding is not received then any shortfall will have to be met from reserves.
2019/20 Outturn
In 2019/20 the Council experienced significant budget pressures within Adults and
Children’s Services. This is consistent with previous years and other councils. Despite
these pressures, the Council achieved a small underspend of £33,000 in the year.
In 2019/20 the Council aimed to deliver savings of £13.4m, however it only delivered
savings in the region of £8.6m, approximately two thirds of the original expectations. Adult
Social Care and Commissioning, Highways, Infrastructure and Waste and Corporate
services were the three areas recording the highest proportion of savings not achieved.
The Council has maintained its general reserve balance of £14m and has increased its
earmarked reserves by £8.8m to £120m.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

16

Commercial in confidence

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)
Value for Money Risks
Risks identified in our audit plan

Commentary

Findings and conclusions

Financial resilience (cont’d)

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

Please see page 19.

Page 19

Local Authorities are still experiencing
significant financial challenges and the
one-year settlement for 2020/21 (compared
to the previous four year settlement) makes
financial planning over the medium term
difficult.

For Devon County Council, the 2020/21
budget requires savings of £7.5m to be
delivered and a net reduction in reserves of
£3.4m in order to achieve a balanced
budget.
We will review the budget for 2020/21 and
the Council’s medium term financial plan
and will assess any future reliance on
reserves and the savings being delivered
by the transformation programme 'doing
what matters'.

However, whilst the Council has maintained its general reserve balance of £14m and has
increased its earmarked reserves by £8.8m to £120m, it has a negative reserve for the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) SEND service of £19.8m at the year end. In 2018/19
there was an overspend of approximately £5.2m, of which £2.8m was taken to reserves
and £2.4m carried forward to 2019/20.
Looking ahead to 2020/21, this deficit is continuing, and the latest forecast is for the deficit
to be £26.8m by 31 March 2021, giving a total forecast deficit of £46.6m. The Council is
aware that an action plan is required and is in consultation with schools as to how this
deficit could be reduced. Urgent action is required to prevent the deficit increasing.
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2020/21 budget were agreed in
February 2020. Due to the significant uncertainty the Council has decided not to amend its
2020/21 budget but is actively monitoring its financial position against its planned budget.
2021/22 and beyond will be reconsidered and updated later in the year to form part of the
Council’s budget setting processes in 2021. The Council will follow the same timetable as
previous years.
As at month four, and as reported to Cabinet in September 2020, the financial position has
deteriorated slightly and the Council forecasts an overspend of £4.5m for the year. This
overspend can be accommodated if the planned contribution to reserves is not made.
The Council is again experiencing increased costs within Adult Care and Health Services,
Children’s Services and Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste. The most
significant being within Adult Care and Health Services and Children’s Services due to
increased demand and planned savings not being achievable due to Covid-19. 2020/21
remains a challenging year for the Council.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

17

Commercial in confidence

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)
Value for Money Risks
Risks identified in our audit plan

Commentary

Findings and conclusions

Financial resilience (cont’d)

Savings required 2020/21 onwards

Please see page 19.

Page 20

The MTFS agreed in February 2020 identified the following savings:
Local Authorities are still experiencing
significant financial challenges and the
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
one-year settlement for 2020/21 (compared
£000
£000
£000
to the previous four year settlement) makes
financial planning over the medium term
difficult.
Savings
7,499
17,788
13,143
required
For Devon County Council, the 2020/21
budget requires savings of £7.5m to be
delivered and a net reduction in reserves of
£3.4m in order to achieve a balanced
budget.
We will review the budget for 2020/21 and
the Council’s medium term financial plan
and will assess any future reliance on
reserves and the savings being delivered
by the transformation programme 'doing
what matters'.

Savings
identified
Savings to be
found

2023/24
£000
15,105

7,499

1,364

0

0

0

16,424

13,143

15,105

The Council recognised at month two that the savings required in 2020/21 are at
significant risk of delivery and anticipates that only £2.089m are deliverable. The majority
(89%) of non-deliverable savings are within Adult Social Care and Commissioning. This
position is unchanged as at month four.

The Council recognises that a large proportion of the budgeted savings are not achievable
and this financial pressure is being covered by Covid-19 funding from the Government.
Management action is being taken to address the overspend as Government funding is
only expected for a finite period.
However, this lack of delivery will increase the pressure in 2021/22 as the savings
required in that year are substantial and a significant proportion have yet to be identified.
© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

18

Commercial in confidence

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)
Value for Money Risks
Risks identified in our audit plan

Commentary

Financial resilience (cont’d)

Page 21

Whist monitoring the transformation programme to maintain momentum and provide a
strong focus on demonstrating outcomes and financial benefits should continue, the
Local Authorities are still experiencing
Council should also ensure that the transformation programme contributes to the
significant financial challenges and the
savings required in 2021/22. This could be achieved by ensuring there is an agreed plan
one-year settlement for 2020/21 (compared which includes savings targets which are incorporated in the medium term financial
to the previous four year settlement) makes strategy
financial planning over the medium term
difficult.

For Devon County Council, the 2020/21
budget requires savings of £7.5m to be
delivered and a net reduction in reserves of
£3.4m in order to achieve a balanced
budget.

Findings and conclusions

Although the Council faces significant
financial uncertainty as a result of the Covid19 pandemic, it has arrangements in place
to carefully monitor and manage the spend
and has sufficient reserves to ensure
financial resilience in the short to medium
term.
In order to reduce the financial pressure
going forward it needs to begin considering
its savings plans for 2021/22 and beyond.
We consider that adequate arrangements
are in place to ensure financial resilience.

We will review the budget for 2020/21 and
the Council’s medium term financial plan
and will assess any future reliance on
reserves and the savings being delivered
by the transformation programme 'doing
what matters'.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

19

Commercial in confidence

Value for Money conclusion (Council only)
Value for Money Risks
Risks identified in our audit plan

Commentary

Findings and conclusions

Ofsted and CQC inspections

In January 2020, an Ofsted inspection of Children’s Social Care Services was undertaken.
This identified that there are serious failings in the services provided to children and
reached the following judgements:

Due to the findings determined by Ofsted
from its inspection, we have concluded
that Council does not have adequate
arrangements in place for the Children’s
Social Care Services. Senior leaders
where not aware of the failures to protect
some of the most vulnerable children and
young people from harm and the service to
care leavers was assessed as inadequate.

Page 22

In 2018/19, Ofsted and the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) carried out a Joint
Local Area Inspection and Ofsted
undertook a two day focussed visit. Both
visits identified the need for action by the
Council.
As part of our work in 2019/20 we will
follow up on actions taken by the County
Council to address the Ofsted and CQC
findings.
We will also be alert to any further
inspection reports that may be issued in
2020.

•

The impact of leaders on social work practice with children and families – Inadequate

•

The experiences and progress who need help and protection – Requires improvement
to be good

•

The experience and progress of children in care and care leavers – Inadequate

•

Overall effectiveness – Inadequate

As a result a Statutory Direction under Section 497A(4B) of the Education Act 1996 was
issued.

We therefore issued an ‘except for’ VFM
conclusion is this respect.

This inspection supersedes the focused visits undertaken in May 2019.
The inspection report has been presented to virtual meetings for Scrutiny and to the
Children’s Services Overview Group. Actions are underway and arrangements have been
adapted due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

In respect of the joint inspection for children with SEND requirements, the Council
amended its Statement of Action which was accepted by Ofsted. The Council has been
making progress although the requirements for children and young people with autism
remain a challenge. A re-inspection is anticipated but this has been delayed due to Covid19 disruption.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

20

Commercial in confidence

A. Reports issued and fees
We confirm below our final reports issued and fees charged for the audit and the provision of non-audit services.
The final fees are subject to approval by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA)
Reports issued

Audit Plans
Addendum to Audit Plans
Audit Findings Reports (interim)
Audit Findings Reports (final)
Annual Audit Letter

Date
February 2020
April 2020
November 2020
February 2021
June 2021

Page 23

Audit fees

County Council
Fee

Pension Fund
Fee

Scale Fee

81,066

22,024

Additional proposed audit fee at planning stage

17,850

1,250

Total proposed audit fees (excluding VAT) at planning

£98,916

£26,274

Further additional fees proposed at completion

14,834

7,591

£113,750

£33,865

Total proposed audit fees (excluding VAT) on completion

Our Audit Plans for the County Council and Pension Fund dated 27 February 2020 included proposed additions to the scale fee to take account of the additional
scepticism required on the audit and the raising of the bar by our regulator. This is reflected in the total proposed audit fees at planning referred to above of £98,916.
Since the presentation of the audit plan, we have added a significant risk to each audit following the impact of Covid-19. We have now reflected on the time taken to
discharge our responsibilities this year because of this and are proposing a further increase in fees of £14,834 for the County Council and £3,941 for the Pension
Fund. This further charge has not been entered into lightly but reflects only a proportion of the significant additional work we have had to undertake this year to
discharge our responsibilities.
For the Pension Fund, the fee at planning was also increased by £2,650 in respect of the additional work that was required to review the material additional
contribution made in the year by one of the scheduled bodies and by £1,000 for the valuation of derivatives as the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) increased the
requirements in this complex area.
© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

21

Commercial in confidence

A. Reports issued and fees
The non-audit fees for the year are:

Non-audit fees for other services
Audit Related Services – Certification of Teachers’ Pension Return
Audit Related Services IAS 19 Assurances
Non- Audit Related Services

Total non- audit fees (excluding VAT)

County Council

Pension Fund

4,200

0

0

10,000

nil

nil

£4,200

£10,000

Page 24

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council and Pension Fund.
The table above summarises all non-audit services which were identified. We have considered whether non-audit services might be perceived
as a threat to our independence as the Council’s auditor and have ensured that appropriate safeguards are put in place.
The above non-audit services are consistent with the Council’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditor.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021

22

Commercial in confidence

Page 25
© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member
firms, as the context requires.
Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldw ide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

© 2020 Grant Thornton UK LLP | Devon County Council Annual Audit Letter 2019/20 | June 2021
grantthornton.co.uk

Agenda Item 5

Commercial in confidence

Audit Committee
30 June 2021
2020/21 External Audit Plan for Devon County Council
Report provided by Grant Thornton via the County Treasurer
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee
before taking effect.
Recommendation: that the Committee approves the attached audit plan
1. The attached report provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory audit
of Devon County Council. It covers both the opinion on the financial statements and the work in
respect of the Value for Money assessment.

Mary Davis
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries:
David Bray | Senior Manager | Audit
For Grant Thornton UK LLP
2 Glass Wharf | Bristol | BS2 0EL
T (direct) +44 (0)117 305 7889
E david.bray@uk.gt.com | W grantthornton.co.uk

Background Paper: None

Page 27

Page 29

Commercial in confidence

Page 30

Commercial in confidence

Page 31

Commercial in confidence

•

•

•
•

Page 32
•

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•

Page 33
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•
•

Page 34

•
•

•

•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•

Page 35

•

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

Page 36

•

•

•

Commercial in confidence

•
•

Page 37

•
•
•
•

•
•

•

Commercial in confidence

•

Page 38

•
•

•
•
•

•

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 39
•
•

•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•

Page 40

•
•
•

•
–

–
–
–
•

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 41

Commercial in confidence

Page 42
•

•

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 43

Commercial in confidence

Page 44
•
•
•
•
•
16

Commercial in confidence

.

•

•

Page 45

•

Ethical Standard (revised
2019)

Commercial in confidence

.

Page 46

Commercial in confidence

Page 47

Commercial in confidence

Page 48

Commercial in confidence

Page 49

Commercial in confidence

Page 50

Page 51

Agenda Item 6

Commercial in confidence

Audit Committee
30 June 2021
2020/21 External Audit Plan for Devon Pension Fund
Report provided by Grant Thornton via the County Treasurer
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee
before taking effect.
Recommendation: that the Committee approves the attached audit plan
1. The attached report provides an overview of the planned scope and timing of the statutory audit
of the Devon Pension Fund.

Mary Davis
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries:
David Bray | Senior Manager | Audit
For Grant Thornton UK LLP
2 Glass Wharf | Bristol | BS2 0EL
T (direct) +44 (0)117 305 7889
E david.bray@uk.gt.com | W grantthornton.co.uk

Background Paper: None

Page 53

Page 55

Commercial in confidence

Page 56

Commercial in confidence

Page 57

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•

Page 58

Commercial in confidence

•
•

Page 59

•

•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•
•
•
•

•

Page 60

•
•

•
•

•

Commercial in confidence

•

•

•

•

Page 61

•
•

Commercial in confidence

•

Page 62

•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

Commercial in confidence

•
•

Page 63
•

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 64
•
•

•
•
•
•

Commercial in confidence

•

•
•
•

Page 65
•

•
•
•

•

Commercial in confidence

Page 66

Commercial in confidence

Page 67
•
•
•
•
•
13

Commercial in confidence

.

•

Page 68

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised
2019)

Commercial in confidence

.

Page 69

Commercial in confidence

Page 70

Commercial in confidence

Page 71

Commercial in confidence

Page 72

Commercial in confidence

Page 73

Page 74

Agenda Item 7
CT/21/247
Audit Committee
30TH June 2021
INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT FOR 2020/21
Report of the County Treasurer
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee before
taking effect.

Recommendations:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

that the Committee reviews and considers the overall annual assurance opinion.
that members review and consider the performance of Devon Audit Partnership during the
year.
that members review and consider the outcomes of the work completed.
that members review the ongoing commitment to counter fraud activities.

The key objective of Internal Audit is to provide assurance to Members, Leadership Group and the
County Treasurer (as the Council’s “section 151 responsible officer”), on the adequacy and
security of those systems on which the County Council relies for its internal control, both financial
and management.
The attached report provides the end of year opinion of the Council’s Internal Audit Service
(Devon Audit Partnership) and describes the progress against the internal audit plans for 2020/21
that were approved by the Audit Committee in February 2020 and as subsequently revised.
This work and the continuing contribution of Devon Audit Partnership to both risk management
and anti-fraud arrangements within the Council, lead to an opinion that the Council continues to
have an effective framework of control which provides reasonable assurance regarding the
effective, efficient and economic achievement of its objectives.
The Committee can take assurance from these findings.
Mary Davis
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Hutchins
Tel No: (01392) 382437 Larkbeare House
Background Paper
Date
File Ref
Nil
There are no equality issues associated with this report.

Page 75

Audit Committee
Annual Internal Audit Report
2020/21
Page 76

Devon County Council
June 2021

Official

Agenda Item 7

Internal Audit

Official

Introduction
This report provides a summary of the performance against the internal audit plan for the 2020/21 financial
year, highlighting the key areas of work undertaken, summarises our main findings and recommendations
aimed at improving controls, and provides our overall Annual Assurance Opinion.
The key objectives of the Devon Audit Partnership (DAP) have been to provide assurance to senior
management and members over the adequacy, security and effectiveness of the systems and controls
operating within the Council and to provide advice and assurance to managers and staff.
The Internal Audit plan for 2020/21 was presented to and approved by the Audit Committee in February
2020 prior to the UK Covid Lockdown and, therefore, has necessarily been changed to meet and support the
Council’s need to respond to the Pandemic. That said, we have reviewed all key financial systems.
The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards require the Head of Internal Audit to provide a report providing an
opinion that can be used by the organisation to inform its governance statement. This report provides a
position statement on the progress towards that opinion.

Page 77

The level of risk associated with each of the areas in Appendix 1 has been determined either from the Local
Authority’s Strategic / Operational Risk Register, or the Audit Needs Assessment. Where the audit was
undertaken at the request of client, it has not been risk assessed. Assurance and recommendations should
be considered in light of these risk levels and the impact this has on achievement of corporate / service
goals.
Expectations of Senior Management from this annual report are
The Senior Management are requested to consider:
the opinion statement within this report.

•

the completion of audit work against the plan.

•

the scope and opportunity of audit to complete the audit work.

•

progress impact against strategic aims.

•

audit findings provided.

•

the overall performance and customer satisfaction on audit delivery.

Page

Introduction

1

Audit Assurance Statement

2

Progress Against Plan

3

Value Added

3

Summary Assurance Opinions

4

Executive Summaries

5

Fraud Prevention and Detection

7

Customer Value

8

Appendices
1 – Summary of Audit Report & Findings

9

2 – Assurance Map

28

3 – Audit Authority

29

4 – Annual Governance Framework

30

5 – Basis for Opinion

31

6 – Customer Service Results

32

7 – Confidentiality

33

8 – Definitions

34

9 – Assurance Integration Plan

35

In review of the above, Senior Management should consider the assurance provided alongside that of the Corporate Risk Management and satisfy
themselves from this assurance that the internal control framework continues to be maintained at an adequate level to mitigate risks and inform the Executive
for governance requirements.

1

Agenda Item 7

•

Contents

Audit Assurance Statement
Overall, based on work performed during 2020/21 and our
experience from the previous year’s audit, the Head of
Internal Audit’s Opinion is of “Reasonable Assurance” on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control
framework within the County Council
We have revised our assurance ratings and definitions for 2021/22 in line
with CIPFA Guidance. This assurance statement is in line with
definitions below and will provide Senior Management and Members with
an indication of the direction of travel for their consideration for the
Annual Governance Statement.

Internal Control Framework
The control environment comprises the Council’s policies, procedures and operational systems including
processes in place to establish and monitor the achievement of the Council’s objectives; facilitate policy and
decision making; ensure economical, effective and efficient use of resources, compliance with established
policy, procedure, law and regulation; and safeguard the Council’s assets and interests from losses. Core
financial and administrative systems were reviewed by Internal Audit.
The Council’s overall internal control framework is considered to have operated effectively during the year.
Where we have highlighted instances of poor compliance to key controls, none are considered to have had a
material impact on the Authority’s operations.
Risk Management
Risk Management process at strategic
and operational level remains in place
although ongoing review is required to
improve the focus of risks to key
business objectives and improve
mitigation controls. There remains work
to be done to embed this at operational
level.

Governance Arrangements
Governance arrangements have been
considered in all our audits but with
opportunities to improve consistency or
alignment to business need. We will
continue to review the improvements to
governance and control arrangements in
2021/22, including formation of the
Programme Management Office.

Performance
Management
Performance is subject
to monitoring at
management such as
in Policy Development,
and Strategy and
Resources.

Page 78

Where weaknesses have been identified management have
agreed these findings and have either agreed the
recommendations or accepted the associated risks. Where
management actions have been agreed, as appropriate we shall
undertake follow up work to ensure that the identified risks have
been mitigated. Leadership have been provided with details of Internal Audit’s opinion on each audit review carried out in 2020/21. All audit reports include an
action plan which identifies responsible officers, and target dates, to address control issues identified during a review. If significant weaknesses have been
identified in specific areas, these will need to be considered by the Authority in preparing its Annual Governance Statement for the Statement of Accounts for
2020/21.
Substantial
Assurance

Reasonable
Assurance

A sound system of governance, risk management and control
exists, with internal controls operating effectively and being
consistently applied to support the achievement of objectives in the
area audited.
There is a generally sound system of governance, risk
management and control in place. Some issues, noncompliance or scope for improvement were identified which
may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area
audited.

Limited
Assurance

Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified.
Improvement is required to the system of governance, risk management
and control to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in
the area audited.

No
Assurance

Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps, weaknesses or
non-compliance identified. The system of governance, risk management
and control is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of
objectives in the area audited.

Covid 19 Statement
Due to the emergence of COVID 19, its impact the Council and also the government-initiated lockdown of the UK, the internal audit plan for the Council was
altered to take account of the refocusing of service staff on COVID Pandemic response activity. Where possible planned audit work was either concluded
and a draft report issued or has been carried into plans for 2021/22. In addition, we undertook to create Assurance Maps for completed work, and
when appropriate, the Internal Audit Plan for 2020/21 was reprioritised with Service Management. This was to ensure that we can provide the annual
Assurance Opinion as required by the Accounts and Audit Regulations for the 2020/21 financial year. We will continue to offer advice and support as needed
and aim to be flexible in supporting the service at this ongoing challenging time.
2

Agenda Item 7

Official

Official

Progress Against Plan
This report compares the work carried out with the work that was planned
through risk assessment including any revisions, which occurred for various
reasons, and were carried out in conjunction with relevant management
personnel for reasons including a lack of government progress on new social
care funding arrangements and the COVID 19 Pandemic.

Audit Progress Against Plan 2020/21

The report presents a summary of the audit work undertaken to date,
includes an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control
environment, and summarises the performance of the Internal Audit function
against its performance measures and other criteria.
The bar chart shows delivery of the plan against target and this has been
impacted due to higher departmental priorities elsewhere (Covid Pandemic).
1

Page 79

Performance in the year has also included completion of work from 2019/20
necessarily spanning year end, undertaking follow up audits on areas where
significant findings were made in the previous year and reporting to member
committees thereon.
A table showing the detailed status of planned audits and their associated
reported executive summaries is contained at Appendix 1. In addition to the
planned work, consultancy and advice has continued to be provided where
required.

Value Added

•
•
•

10

20
In Progress

30

40

Draft Report

50
Finalised

60

70

80

Planned

providing objective and relevant assurance.
contributing to the effectiveness and efficiency of the governance, risk management and internal control processes.
Input to changing processes resulting from the Covid Pandemic.

We trust that Senior Management have found our engagement, support as a ‘trusted advisor’ effective and constructive in these significantly changing times.

3

Agenda Item 7

0

We know that it is important that the internal audit services seek to "add
value" whenever it can. We obtained feedback from those audited during the
year who considered we were able to add value by:

Major
Projects

Summary of Assurance Opinions - Service Area Overview of Audit Coverage
Children’s Services

Adult Social Care and Health

Page 80

Summary of key audit reviews

Care Assessments

Contracting and Placements

Active Devon
Post 16 Transitions Carers South
West)

Highways,
Infrastructure
Development and
Waste
Data
Security/Breaches

Workforce Strategy / Recruitment

Insourcing Plans

Revised arrangements around Personal Care

- On Street Parking.

(Covid) Performance Data
Direct Payments (Follow Up)
CHC (Follow Up)
Covid Financial Decision Reviews:
- Market Capacity/Voids.
- Domiciliary Care Rates.
- Charging for Care.
- Investment in the Care Home Sector.

VOIDS Checking - COVID 19

ICT

Street Lighting

Hiring Consultants
Continuing Health Care

Safety Camera Partnership (Peninsula Road Safety
Partnership)

Regional Adoption Agency
CareFirst to Eclipse – Data
Quality
School Buildings
SEND School Spend

Online
Payments
Gateway

Highways-Well
maintained highways
infrastructure

Fraud
Prevention
and
Investigation
National
Fraud
Initiative
Advice
Audit Follow
Up

Whole Life Asset Costs
Learn Devon – (Service Request)

TF Support Programme
Covid Financial Decision Review

Covid Financial Decision Review-PPE

Procurement
Fixed Asset
Register

HR
Management
System
(iTrent)

Maintenance Contract
KPI’s

Health & Safety Governance

Business Processes &
Governance
Key Financial
Systems

Domestic and Sexual Violence
and Abuse

Covid Financial Decisions
Review – Childcare Grants

Tax
Compliance
Forum

Covid Financial
Decision Reviews:
- Skanska.

Community Equipment Budget

Core Assurance

Communities, Public
Health, Environment &
Prosperity

Value
Added

Treasury Management

Payroll

Bank Reconciliation

Debtors

Main Accounting System

- Temporary Mortuary
Creditors
Income Collection

Change Management

Cyber/Network Security

Carefirst OLM Follow Up

Incident and Problem Management

Scomis Contract Management Follow Up

Adoption and Change Follow Up
GDPR Follow Up

Covid Pandemic-Financial
Decisions Reviews
Data Storage ProjectFollow Up

Assurance opinions are ‘RAG’ rated to support the overall assurance opinion for the year. The ratings are relevant at the time of the audit
review and assurance may have improved since that time; blue cells are Value Added work.
4

Agenda Item 7

Official

Executive Summary(s)

for greater combined benefit and carrying out Post Implementation
Reviews.

In our opinion and based upon our audit work completed and direct advice
provided we can report that internal controls continue to operate effectively
and where recommendations for improvements have been made action
plans have been agreed with management.

Due to the items identified within our reviews in terms of ‘lessons learnt’ for
future activity, there were a range of assurance opinions with some being
given a ‘limited assurance’ rating. Overall, the strength and ability to pause
and reflect on a potential decision, when applied, was found to have
resulted in better outcomes. This is a key learning point to be taken
forwards.

Covid Financial Decision Reviews – Limited Assurance
Due to the onset of the Global Covid Pandemic a number of specific Covid
related decisions were review across the Authority. These reviews were
built around a “What Went Well, Even Better If” model and were aimed at
both gaining assurance of the activity undertaken and providing
opportunities for learning that could inform future service delivery.

Adult Care and Health – Reasonable Assurance
Against the backdrop of such significant challenges from the pandemic it is
pleasing to be able to report that we have not identified significant issues in
the management of the care assessment process which had been
delivered in line with revised national and local guidance. In relation to the
Follow Up review linked to Direct Payments, we can confirm all
recommendations have been considered and progress has been made;
however, the pandemic has caused delays in implementation.

Page 81

The Authority quickly recognised that its pandemic risk planning and
business continuity arrangements were insufficient and set in place new
arrangements and governance processes for emergency decision making
in relation to necessary relaxation of regulations. In the midst of this,
decisions had to be made to safeguard services and people with the
resulting significant financial implications both short and some long term.
Although there were significant spends that in hindsight we can learn from
and plan to minimise for future emergency events, decisions were taken in
the ‘heat of the moment’ and we do not believe there was material loss /
impropriety, though there were challenges and interim mitigations were
taken in these circumstances.
We note that some service areas felt that they had to act quickly in a
number of ways and that this speed of response was not necessarily
reciprocated by the rest of the organisation at the time (Mid-March).
Decisions were supported by Pandemic Funding Protocol (PFP) forms,
completed retrospectively in some cases due to the timing of the creation
of the Pandemic Incident Management Team.

Children Services – Reasonable Assurance
We worked with the service throughout 2020/21 to certify the Troubled
Families Programme monthly submissions, totalling £0.53m for the year.
Our review of the Reginal Adoption Agency confirmed that as would be
expected there were issues to overcome upon formation, and good
progress has been made. Other areas of note include the High Standard
of Assurance given to the Contracting & Placements review where we
identified clear compliance with policy and legislation.

There were many positives identified during the reviews though in addition
to these some examples of the key learning points identified included the
need for better pre-planning, more active risk identification and
documentation in support of decisions, setting out greater clarity of context
and objectives, working to set out more accurate cost expectations and the
ongoing controls to be applied, linking different support schemes/activities
5

Agenda Item 7

The Community Equipment spend had prior to the pandemic not been in
line with the agreed budget, with spending patterns and order numbers
increasing the risk of significant overspends. Our key recommendations
related to making use of better modelling techniques, better management
information/data and greater control of user numbers and access. The
report was presented to the joint management board (JCCG) who took
ownership of addressing the recommendations, the service have since
indicated positive progress has been made in implementing the
recommendations.

Devon Finance Services – Reasonable Assurance

Our review linked to obtaining consultant staff to support improvement to
social care services identified that the corporate processes were not being
adhered to in all cases. This was partly due to the delays the process
causes and the service needs at the time. The service and support
functions have since worked together to ensure that service need can be
met in future via revisions to the approach and process for temporary
recruitment of more senior staff.

Having completed our programme of work linked to the material systems,
and considering previous and on-going work, we are able to report, in the
main, the control framework has been maintained. There remains an
outstanding issue with uncleared orders from prior years which affects
budget forecast and commitments. Currently there is £123 million
outstanding orders, with £13 million being in respect of previous financial
years We reviewed revised procedures resulting from the Covid Pandemic
which were linked to authorisations, payment cards, prompt payments and
supplier resilience, considering them to be sound, effectively controlled and
regularly reviewed by Finance Leadership Group.

Ofsted - Revised Statutory Direction. We note that in May 2021 a direction
was issued which formally ended the commissioner work and required the
Council to continue to take steps to improve its Children’s social care
services. Revised direction issued to Devon County Council (May 2021) GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Digital Transformation and Business Support – Reasonable
Assurance

Page 82

In our opinion and based upon our audit work completed and direct advice
provided we can report that internal controls continue to operate effectively
in the majority of cases across the service. There is an established and
comprehensive Change Management Process in place to govern all
additions, changes, and deletions from the Council's IT Service Catalogue.
The Councils Information Asset Register (IAR) is not sufficiently developed
in order to meet GDPR requirements which could lead to financial penalties
being imposed by the Information Commissioner.

In concluding our work during the year linked to Domestic and Sexual
Violence and Abuse (DSVA) we found that there was a clear desire for a
wide reaching and comprehensive service. Key challenges revolve around
the main providers requirement to source additional funding to ensure the
breadth of service, as well as changes over time the governance resulting
in the main collaborative forum having less of a voice than a similar body in
the original structure, particularly in respect of setting the strategy.

The Councils procurement programme has been severely impacted by the
Emergency response which has resulted in low planned procurement
activity from January 2020 onwards, with some contracts requiring
temporary extensions in order to maintain service continuity or direct
awards. We consider that there has been reasonable governance and
financial control applied where this was the case. Taking into account the
finalised 19/20 review and the subsequent 20/21 review, we have been
able to conclude an assurance level of Reasonable Assurance in relation to
procurement activity which is a credit to the service.

Communities, Public Health, Environment & Prosperity –
Reasonable Assurance
Our review of Active Devon confirmed that organisational risks are subject
to a regular review process and are reported to board members as part of
the governance arrangements. In relation to Post 16 Transition
Arrangements (Carers South West) – We found reasonable governance
arrangements which should allow for monitoring and oversight of this
contract.

We were requested by the service to undertake an audit of Hair @ The
Academy, where we found them to be in breach of their sub-contractual
arrangements with Learn Devon, where key required documentation and
learner records have not been provided on request at the time of the audit
and gave an assurance opinion of No Assurance, management are
working with Learn Devon to address the issues of monitoring and noncompliance.

Highways, Infrastructure, Development and Waste – Reasonable
Assurance
We undertook further work following the outcome of the 2019/20 review for
the systems linked to payment for streetlight maintenance. Since our
review we are aware that progress is being made to address the issues of
6

Agenda Item 7

Executive Summary(s) - Continued

financial interfacing and reconciliation. Further work is planned for 2021/22
to look at the new ordering systems and authorisation process installed to
resolve previous problems.

Fraud Prevention and Detection
Counter-fraud arrangements are a high priority for
the Council and assist in the protection of public
funds and accountability. During the year we have
developed and are implementing our audit, counter
fraud and risk management integration plan. This
will see a more organic approach to service
delivery with the aim of improving depth and quality
or reviews see appendix 9.

Executive Summary(s) - Continued
In relation to Highways Maintenance KPI’s we identified that Key
Performance Indicators (KPI's) were revised and to better suit review of
performance during 2020/21, and, therefore, the contract requires revision
to reflect the updated and agreed measures. In relation to cost control for
the delivery of capital projects funded through the Capital Programme, we
consider that there could be benefits in harmonising some processes but
that overall, both Highways and Built Environment projects adopt similar
methodology and principles. There were some good processes in place to
identify and manage risks to Infrastructure projects, though there could be
opportunity to enhance current practice.

The Cabinet Office runs a national data matching exercise, The National
Fraud Initiative (NFI), every two years. For the 2018/19 exercise, DAP coordinated the extract of relevant Council datasets, as defined by the
Cabinet Office. Departments supplied their datasets (and these were
uploaded onto the NFI secure website in October 2018 in accordance with
the NFI timetable. The subsequent matching reports were received back
from the Cabinet Office in February 2019 and departments have been
reviewing the matches throughout 2020/21.

Page 83

Legal Services, Human Resources and Communications –
Reasonable Assurance
The Payroll system has continued to be successful in making payments to
individuals and whilst there are issues to be addressed as would be
expected with a new system, these are known and being manged
alongside the introduction of further functionality. The 2020/21 Health and
Safety review followed work undertaken in 2019/20 on policy, reporting and
processes which were again found to be sound.
Directorate

During 2020/21 financial year, Internal Audit has been made aware of 51
possible irregularities. Analysis of the types of investigation and the
number undertaken is shown in the Table below.

Employee
Conduct

Theft
of I.T.

Adult Care & Health

6

1

1

Children’s Services

7

4

Communities, Public Health, Environment &
Prosperity (CoPHEP)
County Treasurer

4

2

Digital Transformation & Business Support
Highways, Infrastructure Development & Waste
Legal, Human Resources & Communications
Totals

IT
Misuse

Poor
Procedures

Financial
Irregularities

1

3

Misuse Council
Assets &
Facilities

3
1

1
1
1
0
23

Irregularity
Advice

1
1

1

1

8

1

1
1
3

8

7

1

1

1

Agenda Item 7

Totals

Customer Value
Customer Service Excellence
DAP maintains accreditation by G4S Assessment Services of the CSE standard during the
year. During the period we issued client survey forms with our final reports. The results of
the surveys returned are, although low in number, very good and again are very positive.
The overall result is very pleasing, with 96% being "satisfied” or better across our services.
It is very pleasing to report that our clients continue to rate the overall usefulness of the
audit and the helpfulness of our auditors highly

Agenda Item 7

Active Counter Fraud Investigations
In May 2020 Devon Audit Partnership gained the Counter Fraud Services Team. The team offer a full and comprehensive investigation service and have
carried out proactive and reactive investigation work for Devon. The Counter Fraud Team Manager prepares a separate report summarising work undertaken
in the year to date.

Added Value

Page 84

We have had some very complimentary feedback of where our team have been able to add
value to the Council these may be found upon our webpage DAP Website.

Inherent Limitations
The opinions contained within this report are based on our examination of restricted
samples of transactions / records and our discussions with officers responsible for the
processes reviewed.

Acknowledgements
We would like to express our thanks and appreciation to all those who provided support and
assistance during the course of the audits.

Robert Hutchins
Head of Audit Partnership

8

Appendix 1 - Summary of audit reports and findings for 2020/21
Risk Assessment Key
ANA - Audit Needs Assessment risk level as agreed with Client Senior Management
Client Request – additional audit at request of Client Senior Management; no risk assessment information available.

Adult Social Care and Health
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

VOIDS Checking - COVID 19

Assurance
Opinion

Opportunity

(Client Request)

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Review of the model developed to calculate VOID overpayments to be reclaimed from providers.
- Our review concluded that we could provide assurance that the model developed to calculate
the amounts to be reclaimed relating to overpaid VOIDS was working as is expected.

Report
Status: Final

Page 85

Care Assessments
(ANA High)

Substantial
Assurance
Report
Status: Final

This review was focused on data analysis and a limited volume of client sample testing;
therefore, the report findings and conclusions should be considered against this restricted focus.
Against the backdrop of such significant challenges from the pandemic it is very pleasing to be
able to report that we have not identified significant issues in the management of the care
assessment process.
In relation to understating compliance with GDPR and the data held within the Carefirst system,
OLM is ISO27001 accredited so this gives the Council a level of assurance that data is secure
and that there were no immediate issues to address. However, during our review we found the
Council’s Data Protection and Cyber Security Team were not familiar with specific controls in
relation to GDPR principals and Carefirst.

Good
standard

(ANA Medium)
Report
Status: Final
Revised arrangements around
Personal Care
(ANA – Medium)

Good
standard
Report
Status: Final

Being DCC employees, a number of benefits have been realised with the setting up of the Peri
Team which has positively impacted on quality of the Service. Line management structure of
the Peri Team needs to be reviewed in light of increase in the size of the Team, and the
increased workload of the Recruitment Lead’s role, where the capacity to strategically lead and
grow the service is reduced.

Leading up to the novation of the contract the Council and provider worked together to identify
the individual providers delivering the care across the County. Following which a number of
events were held to engage with providers and to inform them of the new ways of working, and
to identify and resolve any issues they may have had.

9

Agenda Item 7

Workforce Strategy / Recruitment

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Direct Payments - Follow Up

Assurance
Opinion

Improvements A steering group was in place and a sub-group formed to work through the issues highlighted in
the original Audit Report. Completion of the work was delayed due to operational pressures
Required
during the COVID-19 repose period.

(ANA High)
Report
Status: Final

Page 86

CHC Follow Up
(ANA High)

Community Equipment Budget

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Improvements
Required
Report
Status: Final
Fundamental
Weaknesses

(Client Request / ANA – Medium)

Report
Status: Final

Following receipt of evidence, we can confirm a new Self-Directed Support (Direct Payments)
policy has been launched and this, together with the new Direct Payment agreement (SS20)
being sent to all Direct Payment recipients, has addressed many of the issues we originally
identified. Work is underway to consider the best way forward in relation to Financial
Assessments and operational review teams have started to review the surpluses accrued during
the first wave of COVID- 19.
We can confirm all recommendations have been considered and where possible that additional
measures have been put in place. Progress has been made; however, the pandemic has
caused delays in implementation.
Due to recent changes in legislation and guidance, the service had not yet been able to address
the original recommendations. A further follow up review will be undertaken as part of the
2021/22 Internal Audit Plan”.

The Community Equipment spend (Adults) is not in line with the agreed budget with spending
patterns and order numbers increasing the risk of significant overspends. In terms of solutions,
increasing the budget from internal funds is unlikely to be an option, and there is limited
opportunity to obtain increases via external funding. We have provided a summary of the likely
causes of the budget based on the audit work that we were able to undertake prior to the
COVID19 Pandemic; however, it should be noted that we were unable to complete our full
programme of testing. JCCG are monitoring the outcomes of the report and have a
responsibility for successful implementation where many of the observations are cross partner /
service delivery.

Post Report Update - Since issuing the report in early 21/22 the service have confirmed that
they updated JCCG in January 2021 on progress against the recommendations made.
Furthermore, the service have advised that a user cleanse has been completed, a Power BI
dashboard has been developed and is being piloted, and although the roll-out of the contractors
new CARES IT system has been delayed, testing in Somerset and other LA’s is underway and
will inform roll out and implementation in Devon. As such, our direction of travel indicator shows
as green and a follow up review will occur in 2021/22 to confirm progress and a revised
assurance opinion.

10

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Agenda Item 7

Adult Social Care and Health

Adult Social Care and Health
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

(Covid) Performance Data

Assurance
Opinion

Reasonable
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Outbreak Management - The Tactical Response Team maintain an MS Excel workbook for
capturing data relating to Covid outbreaks in care home and domiciliary care settings. It was
found to provide very detailed Covid intelligence for care homes, supporting management for
containment / impact minimisation of outbreaks.
Vaccination Programme - The key management information reporting produced to capture the
rapidity of the Covid Vaccination programme for Adult Care and Health staff, provider staff and
residents within Care Settings is a “Covid Vaccination” Power BI report. Review of the report
found it to be informative, effectively capturing the progress of the roll-out of Covid vaccines and
is well used within the Service.

Page 87

Strategic Decision Making and Whole Service Modelling – We confirmed that there are a
significant number of data informed reports being used in relation to analysis of cases,
outbreaks, fatalities, hospital admissions, discharges, as well as performance data relating to
pressures / demands on the care sector. There is evidence that this data is being shared with
key managers / commissioning leads (mainly via Power BI).

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Covid Financial Decision Review
– Domiciliary Care Rates

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Due to the pandemic it was identified that there would be significant additional associated costs
in running adult social care services, such as in care home settings. Providers were becoming
increasingly concerned about an increase in costs (to deal with Covid-19) and a loss of income
which could have a significant impact on their financial viability. Cost increases included the
costs of PPE and workforce risks (including the costs of staff sickness and related cover).
The 'need' for support was identified and business cases were produced by service
management. These included payment for voids, additional costs including staff/agency costs,
and costs of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE). Providers were to claim reimbursement for
additional costs incurred.

11

Agenda Item 7

Covid Financial Decision Review
– Market Capacity and Voids

Our main observation is linked to the amount of Covid related data and management reports
from multiple sources being generated / used by the Service. This results in a challenge in
determining which data is the most relevant and accurate to inform effective decision making. It
is acknowledged that the data being collected is being used and adapted in a live environment,
this could be done more efficiently through maximising the use of Power BI and with all being
data held in one data repository.

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Assurance
Opinion

Covid Financial Decision Review
– Charging for Care

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Covid Financial Decision Review
– Investment in the Care Home
Sector

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Residual Risk / Audit Comment
It was very quickly realised that pandemic planning and business continuity authority wide was
insufficient and emergency procedures had to be put in place in many areas. We note that the
service felt that they had to act quickly in a number of ways and that this speed of response was
not necessarily reciprocated by the rest of the organisation at the time (Mid-March). At that
time, the Council was not set up to engage in a supportive challenge of the proposals, the result
of which was approvals being given from 20th March onwards, without time allowed for full
scrutiny and organisational understanding of the risk and opportunity.
New governance arrangements were established for decision making requiring decisions to be
supported by Pandemic Funding Protocol (PFP) forms. These were completed retrospectively in
some cases due to the timing of the creation of the Pandemic Incident Management Team.

Page 88

The ‘hindsight view’ of the decision is that there have been significant increased costs as a
result of the decisions associated to the pandemic that had there been greater planning,
information, more detailed risk and business case information could have resulted in different
decisions, some of which will have a long-term financial impact. However, recognising the
circumstances all were in at the time, the main focus has to be on Lessons Learnt.
There were many positives identified during the reviews, and in addition to these some
examples of the general learning points identified included:
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Risk Identification and documentation in support of decisions.
Clarity of context and objective.
Clarity on costings and the ongoing controls to be applied.
Post Implementation Reviews – Was the scheme a success and what can be learnt?
Linking different support schemes/activities - Greater combined benefit.
Use of advice from support functions e.g. Legal Service.

In Progress

How is the Council meeting
its market sufficiency
requirements?
Workforce in the Independent
Sector – SWOT Analysis

12

Agenda Item 7

Adult Social Care and Health

Children's Services
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Children’s Social Care
Contracting & Placements

Substantial
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

Insourcing Plans (PH Nursing, Short Reasonable
Breaks, Rehabilitation Officers for
Assurance
Visually Impaired Children's
Report Status:
Services (ROVICS), Portage)
Final

Page 89

Covid Pandemic – Financial
Decisions Review – Childcare
Grants

Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

Procurement and contracting arrangements for children’s services were considered to be sound and
in compliance with the Councils Constitution, Code of Business Conduct and PBR 2015. Contracts
were monitored throughout their life and the information gathered from reviews, together with need’s
analysis used to identify future demand, and inform future commissioning and procurement plans.
Whilst there were a number of issues in this process many of these were outside of the control of
the Council, arising from the initial lack of engagement by the contractor. The Service responded
well to the challenges and issues faced, with mitigations put in place to minimise exposure to
risk. The project was well structured and delivered on time, moving into Business as Usual in July
2019. The Project Closure report included lessons learnt from which an action plan was drafted to
take lessons forward.
In light of the Covid Pandemic response activities we reviewed a sample of 11 specific decisions,
these being linked to Childcare Grants; AC&H Market Capacity and Voids; On Street Parking; AC&H
Domiciliary Care Rates; PPE; Temporary Mortuary; Skanska Supplier Relief; AC&H Block Bookings;
Charging for Care; AC&H investment in Care Home Sector and Hardship Grants.

Hiring Consultants

Limited
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

The Service (Children’s Services) were found to be making direct contact with Odgers Interim (the
Company providing consultants/interims), rather than seeking recruitment in conjunction with HR
and Procurement. This action avoided the use of the approved Agency Framework, resulting in an
increased risk of challenge from other similar providers who are on the DCC approved framework,
and potentially less favourable supply costs/increased costs.
The Service, Procurement and HR have since worked to revise the approach and process to ensure
that service needs can be met.

13

Agenda Item 7

The ‘hindsight view’ of the wider reviews is that there have been significant increased costs in some
service areas, as a result of the decisions associated to the pandemic, that had there been greater
planning, information, more detailed risk and business case information could have resulted in
different decisions, hence the ‘Limited Assurance’ opinion for many reviews - although, that of Child
Care grants was of ‘Reasonable Assurance’. However, recognising the circumstances all were in at
the time, the main focus has to be on ‘Lessons Learnt’ and these apply to that of
the childcare grants too.

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Continuing Health Care and S117
Aftercare

Regional Adoption Agency

Page 90

Children's Services Management
Information Team: CareFirst to
Eclipse, Data Quality - controls /
validity

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Limited
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

Review of the "Individual Children’s Commissioning Policy", (ICCP), found it to be primarily in line
with the Department of Health - National Framework for Children and Young People’s Continuing
Care (2016). We recommended amendment to provide greater transparency in relation to funding
thresholds, and the levels which the CCG use when making funding decisions. We were unable to
form a view on compliance with the National Framework due to the incomplete audit trail maintained
by the Council.

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Final

As with any new organisation it takes time for processes and systems to settle and become efficient
and effective. This is even more apparent where the new organisation brings together staff from
differing established and embedded arrangements. We have been pleased to find that whilst some
challenges are not yet fully overcome ASW are working well towards resolving.

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Our review of the implementation of the Eclipse System confirmed that there were implementation
Limited
phases of the project where lessons could be learned for future schemes.
Assurance
Report Status:
It is important to note that Devon was the first Local Authority to Go-Live with Eclipse and therefore,
Final
the risk of significant issues arising was greater. It is clear that provider was not realistic about the
stage that their product development had reached.

In light of the challenges faced during the project the service worked well to ensure that there was a
product available for use in the time taken.
•

Eclipse System - Phase 2

In Progress
Wide ranging review bringing together Audit, IT and external support etc to assess the position and use of the Eclipse system.

Education and Learning
School Buildings
ANA - Low

Position
Statement
Report
Status: Draft

Benchmarking of 2018/19 premises maintenance spend (of the South West regions) has confirmed
that the level of spending within Devon’s maintained schools is on a par with the average, at around
1.2% of the total Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) spend. Spending in 2019/20 has seen a marginal
increase to 1.9%.

N/A
The increased spending pressures on school budgets, together with the changes and reduction to
the devolved formula capital funding over the last few years has meant that schools have had less
budget to be able to invest in the premises, with only urgent repairs / emergency works taking place
in the majority of cases.

14

Agenda Item 7

Children's Services

Children's Services
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

SEND - School Spend
ANA High
Client Request
Targeted Family Support
Programme
End of Year Grant Summary
Report

Assurance
opinion

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Due to the Covid Pandemic we were unable to complete our planned testing for this review. We
Position
have worked to identify source data and agree the main areas for review during 2021/22 when
Statement
Report Status: schools are in a more suitable position to support the provision of the required information.
Draft

Certified

N/A

The TF Programme is administered by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG) and uses a ‘payment-by-results’ model to incentivise positive outcomes.

Report Status:
To achieve the target for 2020/21 717 families needed to be identified. At the end of March 2021,
Year End
the total claims authorised were 655, totalling £531,200, achieving 83% of the target. The majority
Report
of the claim were made for families with “Significant & Sustained Progress”.

Page 91

We compiled an End of Year Report consolidating the work completed during 2020/21 relating to the
certification of the Troubled Family (TF) Programme. In this we summarised any issues that had
been identified and rectified during the year in relation to refining the process of certification.

The following Grant Claims were passed to audit for independent checking and certification:
•

Targeted Family Support Programme - Submission of monthly PBR claims relating to the programme.

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Active Devon

Assurance
opinion

Reasonable
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Residual Risk / Audit Comment
Active Devon have processes in place to manage risks associated with their organisation. This was
subject to review in a previous internal audit undertaken (2018/19) and obtained a 'high standard'
assurance rating. Organisational risks are subject to a regular review process and are reported to
board members as part of the governance arrangements.

15

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Agenda Item 7

Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity (CoPHEP)

Reasonable
Assurance

Domestic and Sexual Violence and
Abuse (DSVA)

Report
Status: Draft
Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

Reasonable governance arrangements are in place in support of new the contract with the CSW
Group Ltd. The revised governance structure should allow for monitoring and oversight of this
contract and new roles have been defined under formal Terms of Reference and Articles of
Association.
The commissioned Crisis Response and Recovery service specification and contract was found to
be good in providing a wide-reaching service. In order for the strategy to be achieved other funding
sources and partners need to be involved in the medium and longer term for be service to be
sustainable and consistent.
The DVSA Alliance (comprising 68 partners) who set the Strategy, and the DVSA Strategy and
Delivery Group have both been disbanded and replicated by a DVSA Forum. The forum does not
have any decision-making powers and so functions as a sounding board and advisory group has
weakened the communication into the setting of the overall strategy and has also led to DVSA
becoming less of a focus for the Safer Devon Partnership.

Page 92

Safety Camera Partnership
(Peninsula Road Safety
Partnership)
(Client Request)

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

There have been a number of attempts over preceding years to set out a new SCP agreement due
to the 2016 version lapsing, however none of these had been successful and as a result the SCP
continued to operate underpinned by the principles of the prior agreement. Whilst this provided a
continued basis for operations, it has not supported the partnership in evolving to meet the future
collective and individual partner objectives.
Work over the last 12-14 months has moved the partnership closer to new arrangements most
recently set out as a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), however there is still no signed
agreement in place which increases the risk of failed and unmet objectives. The breadth of partners
and their respective internal processes, as well as governance structures make reaching any new
agreement difficult, but not unachievable. Clear communication and in turn recognition and
understanding of the different structures will help to ensure that any delays are understood and can
in turn be overcome with collective effort.
Historically the partnership has been aiming for cost neutrality and a low level of risk
tolerance. Proposals for a new arrangement moving forward increase the risk for partners in
different ways. From a Local Authority perspective in the current climate of post austerity and Covid
recovery, there is no desire or capacity to increase the risk of incurring costs for activity that was
previously nil/minimal cost.

16

Agenda Item 7

Post 16 Transitions (Carers South
West)

Learn Devon

No Assurance The Sub-Contractor were considered to be in breach of their contractual arrangements with Learn
Report
Status: Draft

Report
Status: Draft

Devon, where key required documentation and learner records have not been provided on request
at the time of the audit. Learn Devon has confirmed that they have not been provided with these
records in previous years.
Whilst fraud was initially considered as a potential root cause, this was ruled out. It is Audit’s view
that there is a systemic problem of ongoing poor practice which needs to be addressed, including
considering whether the contract should continue or be terminated. Any non-compliance by a subcontractor could impact both on the learner’s opportunity to achieve their outcomes, as well as
reputational damage for Learn Devon, resulting in potential withdrawal of funding by the ESFA.
Contract and Contract Monitoring - There are a significant amount of terms and conditions laid
down in the contract between Learn Devon and the provider which are not being effectively
monitored by Learn Devon, this increases the risk of undetected non-compliance. Learn Devon
would benefit from reviewing and streamlining the terms and conditions of the contract, and in doing
so they would need to ensure that the contract remains complaint with ESFA requirements whilst
being operationally practical and effective. Any refinement of the contract would also assist Learn
Devon in strengthening its contract monitoring which was not considered to be robust enough.

Page 93

Devon Finance Services
Audit Report
Assurance
opinion

Fixed Asset Register

Substantial
Assurance
Report
Status: Final
Substantial
Assurance
Report Status:
Final
Reasonable
Assurance

Treasury Management

Payroll

Residual Risk / Audit Comment
There have been no substantial changes since the previous audit was undertaken and the Council’s
External Auditors have carried out detailed work during 2020/21 on the 2019/20 data.
An assurance Map has been drafted, shared, and will be reviewed during 2021/22 with the service in
order to inform audit work and any assurance opinion for 2021/22.
The control framework in place for Treasury Management remains effective and is implemented by
experienced staff. Procedures were found to be in place for key processes, performance targets are
monitored appropriately, with interest received on investments being reported monthly; no new loans
have been undertaken since the last audit 2019/20.

We consider the key risks associated with the Payroll Function/Service to generally be managed
effectively. Access to the system is adequately controlled, however, there is room for improving the
control of the assigning of certain user roles. There are also opportunities for the system
Report Status: developments to be discussed with the supplier that could improve security further.

Final

There are suitable controlled processes in place to effectively capture sickness absences. Payroll
related control/suspense accounts are used, and any imbalances are resolved where required.

17

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Agenda Item 7

Risk Area / Audit Entity

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Bank Reconciliation

Assurance
opinion

Substantial
Assurance

Residual Risk / Audit Comment
BACS payments have been found to be processed accurately and in a timely manner, with adequate
segregation of duties and checks in Statutory data and returns are submitted successfully and in a
timely manner, with audit testing confirming that payments are made to HMRC promptly and in full,
and where discrepancies occur, these are investigated and resolved.
The control framework for bank reconciliations is considered to remain sound and effective. Access
to the online banking system is carefully managed, with bank accounts reconciliations reviewed and
authorised promptly on a monthly basis.

Report
Status: Draft

Page 94

Debtors / Debt Recovery

Main Accounting System

Creditors

There are, however, 16 officers with the ability to authorise payments. It is recognised that a
sufficient number of authorisers is required for business continuity purposes. A larger number of
authorisers carries an increased risk of fraudulent activity/weakness and we recommend that a
review of authorised payments is carried out to ensure that only necessary officers have the ability
to authorise payments.
Reasonable Overall, we found that the corporate debtor processes are operating well and within a reasonably
sound control environment. Our main findings relate to the absence of review of errors that have
Assurance
occurred during the interface between Finest and ASH records, and also the gap in action/
Report Status: information recorded against a number of aged debts, potentially impacting the ability of
the local Authority to recover income/debt due.

Draft
Reasonable
Assurance

The control framework for the main accounting system (Finest) remains generally sound and
effectively operated. However, last year’s Audit review of outstanding order lines in Finest identified
a sum of £112 million, with £19 million being in respect of previous financial years which have been
Report Status: rolled forward on a year by year basis. This affects current budgets and forecasting, and future
accounting commitments. Action was subsequently directed to address the issue and progress has
Draft
been made in reducing the sums involved. However, this remains a major problem area with current
figures respectively at £123 million, with £13 million being in respect of previous financial years. The
impact on assurance has been reflected in the creditors report.
We consider that overall, there are reasonable controls applied to creditor processes including the
Limited
P2P system and creditor entity records. The key challenge reported links to the level of outstanding
Assurance
open purchase orders, which has previously been highlighted as a significant issue during the
reporting of the 2019/20 audits and still remains an issue.
Report

Status: Draft

Work has been undertaken by the Finance Service to reduce the level of outstanding orders, but it
remains high. This increases the risk of fraud and error (including duplicate payment) and if not
resolved, this will also become an issue when the Authority replaces the existing accounting
system. Root cause analysis and correction by wider DCC Service Areas in conjunction with
Finance officers has been started an has addressed the majority of older orders, continuation of this

18

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Agenda Item 7

Devon Finance Services

Devon Finance Services
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

activity is essential to ensure that the position is not perpetuated, and that it does not create
unnecessary work when implementing a new Finance System.

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Covid Pandemic – Financial
Decisions Reviews

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

In light of the Covid Pandemic response activities we reviewed a sample of 11 specific decisions,
these being linked to Childcare Grants; AC&H Market Capacity and Voids; On Street Parking; AC&H
Domiciliary Care Rates; PPE; Temporary Mortuary; Skanska Supplier Relief; AC&H Block Bookings;
Charging for Care; AAC&H investment in Care Home Sector and Hardship Grants.

Page 95

Income Collection

In respect of Covid response the Authority has applied a number of temporary financial policy
changes and which are considered to be appropriate and in line with national guidance.
The control framework is generally sound, and income is identified and collected in an appropriate
manner. The main issue identified from this review links to a high level of suspense transactions,
which has increased during 2020/21 to nearly £1 million and represents a further increase in
comparison to last year.

It was very quickly realised that pandemic planning and business continuity authority wide was
insufficient and emergency procedures had to be put in place in many areas. New governance
arrangements (PIMT, SIMT, TRIM) were established for decision making requiring decisions to be
supported by Pandemic Funding Protocol (PFP) forms. These were completed retrospectively in
some cases due to the timing of the creation of the Pandemic Incident Management Team.

There were many positives identified during the reviews and in addition to these some examples of
the learning points identified included better pre-planning, risk identification and documentation in
support of decisions, greater clarity of context and objectives, more clarity on costings and the
ongoing controls to be applied, linking different support schemes/activities for greater combined
benefit and carrying out Post Implementation Reviews.
Overall, the strength and ability to pause and reflect on a potential decision, when applied, resulted
in better outcomes.

19

Agenda Item 7

The ‘hindsight view’ of the reviews (included in other service annual reports) is that there have been
significant increased costs in some service areas, as a result of the decisions associated to the
pandemic, that had there been greater planning, information, more detailed risk and business case
information could have resulted in different decisions. Some of which will have a long-term financial
impact. Hence the assurance opinion. However, recognising the circumstances all were in at the
time, the main focus has to be on ‘Lessons Learnt’.

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Assurance
opinion

These Grant Claims were passed to
Internal Audit for independent checking
and certification during 2020/21

Certified

Residual Risk / Audit Comment
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Local Capital Transport Block Funding.
Local Revenue Transport Block Funding.
Active Devon.
Local Growth Fund.
Carers and Enterprise Grant.
Engaging Rural Macros.
Learn Devon
Bus Subsidy Grant.
Future Farming Resilience Fund.
12 x troubled Families claims.

Page 96

In addition to these ‘BAU’ grants a number of Covid Specific Grant certifications have been
requested and this will continue to be case for 2021/22.

The following audits were from the internal audit plan for 2019/20. The Covid-19 pandemic interrupted normal workflow and some reports were only issued in
draft format. Responses were not expected due to additional pressures facing the Teams; therefore, work and reports have been finalised during 2020/21.
The Revenue and Payments Service has recognised the need to develop a code of practice for
Debtors / Debt Recovery
Good
Income Collection and Debt Management. The corporate debt position is continuing to be monitored
Standard
Report Status: by senior management and should help to identify where there are significant gaps in performance,
identification of high value debtors as well as assist in identifying potential improvements in debt
Final
Bank Reconciliation - County Fund Good standard
Account
Report Status:
Draft
Creditors

Income Collection

Improvements
Required
Report Status:
Draft
Improvements
Required
Report Status:
Final

recovery processes.
It is pleasing to note that the County Fund bank account is now reconciling after a number of issues
were encountered with the introduction of the Payments Gateway System. The reconciliation is now
ready for independent review and authorisation and this should be implemented as soon as
possible.
At the time of the audit there remained £15million of prior year orders which remained outstanding
and thus a commitment on the finance system. This was raised with FLG and a separate
investigation undertaken and reported.
Overall, we were satisfied that appropriate controls are in place. However, we have concerns
centred around two key issues, these being a high level of suspense items and some nonfunctionality of systems. These issues are known by management and are being addressed, but
until they are resolved our assurance is of ‘Improvements Required’.

20

Agenda Item 7

Devon Finance Services

Digital Transformation & Business Support
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

ICT - Change Management

Assurance
opinion

Substantial
Assurance

ANA – Medium
Report
Status: Final

ICT - Incident and Problem
Management

Page 97

ANA - Medium

ANA – Medium

Report
Status: Final

An established and comprehensive Change Management Process is in place to govern all additions,
changes, and deletions from the Council's IT Service Catalogue. DCC ICT Commissioning and
Scomis record and manage these changes using the Myscomis (Ivanti) system, providing a central
record of activity.
Our overall assurance opinion of Substantial Assurance is based on the clear, up to date guidance,
policy and records in place. This will enable future reviews of this area to focus in greater detail on
specific examples.
Scomis are commissioned by the DCC ICT Commissioning Team to manage both Incidents and
Problems but IT Problems are managed in conjunction with the Council’s ICT Commissioning
Team. We can confirm that formally approved policies and procedures exist to govern the
administering of all incidents and problems, furthermore, roles and responsibilities are understood by
all involved and where they exist, procedures have been effectively communicated combing to make
a sound overall framework of control.
A project has recently been initiated in order to review Problem Management, with the objective of
improving problem management processes and reporting. We consider the risks relating to Incident
and Problem Management to be suitably mitigated.

Reasonable
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

ScoMIS has ISO27001 accreditation for its Information Security Management System and this
includes the services provided to Devon County Council (DCC). ISO27001 certification demonstrates
that the organisation has invested in the people, processes, and technology (e.g. tools and systems)
to protect the organisation’s data, providing an independent, expert assessment of whether data is
sufficiently protected.
At present the DCC Perimeter/Firewall is not subject to regular periodic 3rd party penetration testing
and so is not benefiting from scheduled regular analysis help uncover new security weaknesses and
prevent opportunities to exploit vulnerabilities. In regard to aspects of the IT Infrastructure,
vulnerability testing regularly undertaken with regard to aspects of the IT Infrastructure, however, at
present there is no procedure to identify and centrally record this activity, which would also give
oversight to the SIRO of the ongoing vulnerability (including Penetration Testing).

21

Agenda Item 7

ICT - Cyber / Network Security (Inc
Follow up of 18/19 and 19/20
Audits)

Substantial
Assurance

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Procurement

Assurance
opinion

Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Draft

Residual Risk / Audit Comment
There has been significant disruption in procurement activity and further work will be needed to
review procurement plans including timing and resources. There has been reasonable governance
applied in responding to the Pandemic, including direct contract awards, contract exemptions and
supplier relief processes.

Page 98

The following audits were from the internal audit plan for 2019/20, however the Covid-19 pandemic interrupted normal workflow and some reports
were only issued in draft format. Responses were not expected due to additional pressures facing the teams; work in these areas has been
completed reports have been finalised.
Procurement – Resilience of Third Good Standard The Council delivers a number of services through 3rd parties (which include the use of contractors,
Parties
Report Status: joint ventures and partnership arrangements) and some of which are considered to be High Risk, in
terms of their statutory requirements and the ability of the Local Authority to switch providers. Due to
Final

this exposure to risk, we would consider there would be benefit in including the risk of financial
resilience with 3rd parties in the Corporate Risk Register. In addition to this, we have suggested
within our report that the Council should carry out an assessment of all 3rd party contracts in future to
ensure that any critical service contracts are identified.
The Procurement Team perform 'Financial Due Diligence’ checks prior to contract award, and more
recently a range of checks have been undertaken post contract award (during the lifetime of the
contract). At present, there is not a consistent approach being used, due in part to the nature of the
contracts provided. We found examples whereby no financial checks had been undertaken on a 3rd
party post contract award.

The following audit Follow-Up reviews were undertaken, reports were issued with an updated Assurance Opinion:
18/19 ScoMIS Contract
Management Follow Up

Reasonable We have been provided with evidence to show that actions have been undertaken against the
recommendations as referenced within the 2018/19 report. Based upon review of this evidence, we
Assurance
Report Status: revised upwards or assurance opinion.
Final

22

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Agenda Item 7

Digital Transformation & Business Support

Digital Transformation & Business Support
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

18/19 Carefirst OLM Follow Up

Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

The 2020/21 Follow up review sought updates for “Data Security risks related to a hosted provision”
and “Eclipse Migration Status and other matters”. We can confirm that we have been provided with
suitable evidence to show that actions have been undertaken against the recommendations. Based
upon review of this evidence, we revised upwards or assurance opinion.

18/19 Adoption and Change Follow
Up

Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Final
Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

Adoption and Change Team established as permanent part of the department. The Programme as
such has come to an end. The outstanding management action from the 2018/19 audit that were
outstanding when followed up in October 2019 are no longer applicable. Update requesting from
Responsible officer to formally confirm programme complete.

18/19 GDPR Follow UP

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) (2018/19 Audit & previously followed up in
2019/20)

Page 99

DCC are required to maintain a central record of processing activities under GDPR. We recognise
that actions have been identified, and there is governance structure in place to enable the authority to
oversee its development and to enable an effective review of information assets.
Data Protection and Cyber Security Training including Phishing Campaigns (2019/20 Cyber
Security & data Protection Audit)
Mandatory Data Protection training has been developed and implemented across the Local
Authority. As of 12th October 2020, 80% of DCC staff had undertaken the Data Protection training
(where this was required for their role). However Cyber Security training had not been rolled out at
that time.

Data Storage Project – Follow Up

Limited
Assurance
Report Status:
Final

The Council lacks clear established, documented and communicated data storage strategy. The
Council has been encouraging staff to use SharePoint as a primary document storage location, while
still allowing users to save documents to the corporate network, meaning that users are currently
able to store electronic documentation on Corporate Network drives, Office 365 (incl. SharePoint,
Exchange Online), device hard drives and external storage facilities. This increase the risk of data
being stored and accessed inappropriately and results in greater complexity when trying to manage
data.
There are guidance documents and policies in place regarding the storage of the Council’s data, but
these require review and updating and aligning to be consistent. e.g. Records Management Policy

23

Agenda Item 7

Cyber Security awareness training has been developed and we have been advised that this training
is due to be rolled out in October 2020.

Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Data Protection and Cyber Security
(Malware Focus) – Follow Up

Page 100

Covid Financial Decision Review –
PPE
(ANA High)
Covid Financial Decision Review –
Temporary Mortuary
(ANA High)

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

dated October 2015 has not yet been subject to review and other documentation conveys conflicting
messages as some guidance is pre-Office 365. The Authority has procured new Microsoft licenses
that provide functionality to aid data retention, but this is yet to be implemented/utilised. This is one
aid that could help the Council manage the retention of its documents / data/ information.
The arrangements concerning vulnerability testing of services and systems were considered
Limited
inadequate and required development by both the business and SCOMIS. The Councils Information
Assurance
Report Status: Asset Register (IAR) is not sufficiently developed in order to meet GDPR requirements. This was
identified and reported by Internal Audit in 2018. We found the Council’s firewall to be configured
Final
largely in line with Cyber Essentials criteria. There is a project in place to update firewall rules which
have been found to be inappropriate or out of date. The Council only uses a single Firewall and whilst
it is best practice to use two, it is understood that the cost is prohibitive.
Reasonable Combined FDR Summary - In light of the Covid Pandemic response activities we reviewed a
sample of 11 specific decisions, these being linked to Childcare Grants; AC&H Market Capacity and
Assurance
Report Status: Voids; On Street Parking; AC&H Domiciliary Care Rates; PPE; Temporary Mortuary; Skanska
Supplier Relief; AC&H Block Bookings; Charging for Care; AC&H Investment in Care Home Sector
Final
and Hardship Grants.

Limited
Assurance
Social Care providers were becoming increasingly concerned about an increase in costs (to deal with
Report Status: Covid-19) and a loss of income which could have a significant impact on their financial viability. The
Final
'need' for support was identified and business cases were produced by service
management including payment for Personal Protective Equipment (PPE).
The ‘hindsight view’ of the decisions is that there were significant costs as a result of the decisions
associated to the pandemic that had there been greater planning, information, more detailed risk and
business case information would have resulted in different decisions. Hence some of the
limited assurance opinions. However, recognising the circumstances all were in at the time, the main
focus has to be on Lessons Learnt.
There were many positives identified during the reviews, and in addition to these some examples of
the learning points identified included:
•
•
•
•

Risk Identification and documentation in support of decisions.
Clarity of context and objective.
Clarity on costings and the ongoing controls to be applied.
Post Implementation Reviews – Was the decision a success and what can be learnt?

24

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Agenda Item 7

Digital Transformation & Business Support

Highways, Infrastructure Development and Waste
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Data Security/Breaches

Covid Financial Decision Review –
On Street Parking

Page 101

Covid Financial Decision Review –
Skanska

Street Lighting

Maintenance Contract- KPI's

Highways-Well maintained
highways infrastructure

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Reasonable
Assurance
Report
Status: Final

It is a requirement of GDPR (Article 30) for organisations to maintain an Information Asset Register
(IAR) and we identified in a separate audit review that the Corporate IAR is not up to date or
considered fit for purpose. A recommendation has been made to the Council’s Strategic Information
Governance Manager to co-ordinate the review and updating of the IAR. However, it is the
Information Asset Owners (IAO's) for each area of the business, that have the responsibility to
understand and manage the information assets within that business area, also taking ownership of
their IAR's.

Reasonable
Assurance

We reviewed two decisions linked the HIDW service area and these were supported by Pandemic
Funding Protocol (PFP) forms. There were many positives identified during the wider reviews, and
in addition to these some examples of the learning points identified include:

Report
Status: Final
Reasonable
Assurance
Report
Status: Final
Limited
Assurance
Report Status:
Final
Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft
Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Final

•
•
•
•
•
•

Direction
of Travel
Assurance

Risk Identification and documentation in support of decisions.
Clarity of context and objective.
Clarity on costings and the ongoing controls to be applied.
Post Implementation Reviews – Was the scheme a success and what can be learnt?
Use of advice from support functions e.g. Legal Service / Procurement / Finance.
Open and regular Communication with stakeholders.

There are known issues with the current Facilities Management system (FM System) and we
consider these issues will have had an impact in monitoring budget performance in this financial
year as well as increase the risk of incorrect and/or duplication payment. This would include the lack
of interface between the two systems, and the lack of reconciliation of financial data that is held
between the FM system and Finest.
The KPI's have not been subject to regular review since the start of the contract. We found the
service had undertaken a reasonable approach in revising the KPI's in this financial year though
these changes were not reflected within the contract at the time of review.
The Highways service has identified significant gaps in applying the code of practice where further
work needs to be undertaken by the service. The Authority could be challenged in court if they are
unable to demonstrate compliance with the code. Adoption of a risk-based approach is a
fundamental requirement of the code of practice, this is in place but requires improvements including
for identifying risks, articulation of controls and reviewing risk entries.

25

Agenda Item 7

ANA - High

Assurance
opinion

Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Draft

Agenda Item 7

Whole Life Asset Costs (Coll with
other)

Whilst there is good evidence of whole life asset maintenance cost considerations being included in
the business cases presented to the CPG, this is not included consistently in the reports for
Cabinet. In order for Cabinet to make effective decisions they need to be fully informed of the longterm financial impact in any decision-making process.
An assurance rating of “limited assurance” has been given due to the absence of consistent
consideration of the longer-term budgetary requirements and their impact on reducing revenue
maintenance budgets. Additionally, there are a number of absent key controls around the
maintenance audit process, and the recovery and accounting for "commuted sums".

Legal, Human Resources and Communications
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Page 102

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction of
Travel
Assurance

HR iTrent Development

Ongoing Advice We have continued to provide ongoing advice and support as a ‘Trusted Advisor’ to the HR iTrent on system
and Support implementation, updates and new functionality.

Payroll (iTrent)

We consider the key risks associated with the Payroll Function/Service to generally be managed
effectively. Access to the system is adequately controlled, however, there is room for improving
the control of the assigning of certain user roles. There are also opportunities for the system
Report Status: developments to be discussed with the supplier that could improve security further.

Health & Safety Governance

Covid Pandemic – Financial
Decisions Review Temporary
Mortuary

Reasonable
Assurance

Final
Reasonable
Assurance
Report Status:
Final
Limited
Assurance
Report
Status: Final

For the audit review for 2019/20 it was agreed that the review would focus on Adults and
Children's Services. This identified some Adults and Children’s Services where health and safety
arrangements required some significant improvements. This included the processes for
identifying and assessing Health and Safety risk (Health and Safety risk assessment) and
reporting Health and Safety incidents. Attendance at Health and Safety well-being groups were
found to be minimal, especially in relation to Children’s services and thus requires improvement.
In light of the Covid Pandemic response activities we reviewed a sample of 11 specific decisions,
these being linked to Childcare Grants; AC&H Market Capacity and Voids; On Street Parking;
AC&H Domiciliary Care Rates; PPE; Temporary Mortuary; Skanska Supplier Relief; AC&H Block
Bookings; Charging for Care; AC&H investment in Care Home Sector and Hardship Grants.
The ‘hindsight view’ of the reviews (included in other service annual reports) is that there have
been significant increased costs in some service areas, as a result of the decisions associated to
the pandemic, that had there been greater planning, information, more detailed risk and business
case information could have resulted in different decisions, hence the assurance opinion.

26

Legal, Human Resources and Communications
Audit Report
Risk Area / Audit Entity

Assurance
opinion

Residual Risk / Audit Comment

Direction of
Travel
Assurance

However, recognising the circumstances all were in at the time, the main focus has to be on
‘Lessons Learnt’.
There were many positives identified during the reviews and in addition to these some examples
of the learning points identified included risk identification and documentation in support of
decisions, greater clarity of context and objectives, more clarity on costings and the ongoing
controls to be applied, linking different support schemes/activities for greater combined benefit and
carrying out post Implementation Reviews.
Overall, the strength and ability to pause and reflect on a potential decision, when applied,
resulted in better outcomes.

Page 103

Agenda Item 7

27

Agenda Item 7

Appendix 2 – Assurance Map

Page 104
28

Appendix 3 – Audit Authority

Service Provision
The Internal Audit (IA) Service for Devon
County Council is delivered by the Devon
Audit Partnership (DAP). This is a shared
service arrangement constituted under
section 20 of the Local Government Act
2000. The Partnership undertakes an
objective programme of audits to ensure
that there are sound and adequate
internal controls in place across the
whole of the Council. It also ensures that
the Council’s assets and interests are
accounted for and safeguarded from
error, fraud, waste, poor value for money
or other losses.

Strategy

Page 105

Internal Audit Strategy sets out
how the service will be provided,
and the Internal Audit Charter
describes the purpose, authority
and principal responsibilities of
the audit function.

Regulatory Role

We work to professional guidelines which
govern the scope, standards and conduct of
Internal Audit as set down in the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards.
DAP, through external assessment,
demonstrates that it meets the Public Sector
Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS).
Our Internal Audit Manual provides the method
of work and Internal Audit works to and with the
policies, procedures, rules and regulations
established by the Authority. These include
standing orders, schemes of delegation,
financial regulations, conditions of service, antifraud and corruption strategies, fraud
prevention procedures and codes of conduct,
amongst others.

29

Agenda Item 7

There are two principal pieces of legislation
that impact upon internal audit in local
authorities:
Section 5 of the Accounts and Audit
Regulations (England) Regulations 2015
which states that ‘a relevant authority must
undertake an effective internal audit to
evaluate the effectiveness of its risk
management, control and governance
processes, taking into account public sector
internal auditing standards or guidance…..”
Section 151 of the Local Government
Act 1972, which requires every local
authority to make arrangements for the
proper administration of its financial affairs

Professional Standards

Support, Assurance and Innovation

The conclusions of this report provide the internal audit
assurance on the internal control framework necessary for the
Committee to consider when reviewing the Annual Governance
Statement.

Page 106

The Annual Governance Statement provides assurance that
o the Authority’s policies have been complied with in practice.
o high quality services are delivered efficiently and effectively.
o ethical standards are met.
o laws and regulations are complied with.
o processes are adhered to.
o performance statements are accurate.
The statement relates to the governance system as it is applied
during the year for the accounts that it accompanies. It should: • be prepared by senior management and signed by the Chief
Executive and Chair of the Audit Committee.
• highlight significant events or developments in the year.
• acknowledge the responsibility on management to ensure good
governance.
• indicate the level of assurance that systems and processes can
provide.
• provide a narrative on the process that has been followed to
ensure that the governance arrangements remain effective. This
will include comment upon.
o The Authority.
o Audit Committee.
o Risk Management.
o Internal Audit.
o Other reviews / assurance.
Provide confirmation that the Authority complies with CIPFA /
SOLACE Framework Delivering Good Governance in Local
Government. If not, a statement is required stating how other
arrangements provide the same level of assurance

Corporate Risk Management
framework and Reporting

Internal Audit Assurance on
the internal control
framework

Annual
Governance
Framework
Executive and Service
Director Review and
Assurance

External Audit and Other
Assurance Reports

The AGS needs to be presented to, and approved by, the Audit Committee, and
then signed by the Chair.
The Committee should satisfy themselves, from the assurances provided by the
Corporate Risk Management Group, Executive and Internal Audit that the
statement meets statutory requirements and that the management team endorse
the content.

30

Agenda Item 7

Appendix 4 - Annual Governance Framework Assurance

Appendix 5 - Basis for Opinion
The Chief Internal Auditor is required to provide the Council with an opinion on
the adequacy and effectiveness of its accounting records and its system of
internal control in the Council. In giving our opinion, it should be noted that this
assurance can never be absolute. The most that the internal audit service can
do is to provide reasonable assurance, formed from risk-based reviews and
sample testing, of the framework of governance, risk management and control.

Page 107

This report compares the work carried out with the work that was planned through
risk assessment; presents a summary of the audit work undertaken; includes an
opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control
environment; and summarises the performance of the Internal Audit function against
its performance measures and other criteria. The report outlines the level of
assurance that we are able to provide, based on the internal audit work completed
during the year. It gives:
•
•
•
•

a statement on the effectiveness of the system of internal control in meeting the
Council’s objectives:
a comparison of internal audit activity during the year with that planned.
a summary of the results of audit activity and.
a summary of significant fraud and irregularity investigations carried out during
the year and anti-fraud arrangements.

In assessing the level of assurance to be given the following have
been taken into account:

all audits completed during 2020/21, including
those audits carried forward from 2018/19;

any follow up action taken in respect of audits
from previous periods;

any significant recommendations not accepted
by management and the consequent risks;

the quality of internal audit’s performance;

the proportion of the Council’s audit need that
has been covered to date;

Reliance has been placed on prior year work and development of
assurance mapping. The scope of several reviews has changed as a
result of the pandemic though this still adds to the overall assurance
that we are able to provide.

the extent to which resource constraints may
limit this ability to meet the full audit needs of
the Council;

The scope of our audit work this year has not been adversely affected
by investigatory works required to be undertaken and does not
reduce the level of assurance able to be offered.

any limitations that may have been placed on
the scope of internal audit.

31

Agenda Item 7

The extent to which our work has been affected by changes to audit
plans has been notable this year with the pandemic though we have
been able to accommodate the changes required within planned
resources and completed the work.

Agenda Item 7

Appendix 6 - Customer Service Excellence

Page 108
32

Appendix 7 - Confidentiality under the National Protective Marking Scheme
This report is protectively marked in accordance with the National Protective Marking Scheme. It is accepted that issues raised may well need to be
discussed with other officers within the Council, the report itself should only be copied/circulated/disclosed to anyone outside of the organisation in line with
the organisation’s disclosure policies. This report is prepared for the organisation’s use. We can take no responsibility to any third party for any reliance
they might place upon it.

Marking

Definitions

Official

The majority of information that is created or processed by the public sector. This includes routine business operations and services, some
of which could have damaging consequences if lost, stolen or published in the media, but are not subject to a heightened threat profile.

Page 109

Official:
Sensitive

A limited subset of OFFICIAL information could have more damaging consequences if it were lost, stolen or published in the media. This
subset of information should still be managed within the ‘OFFICIAL’ classification tier but may attract additional measures to reinforce the
‘need to know’. In such cases where there is a clear and justifiable requirement to reinforce the ‘need to know’, assets should be
conspicuously marked: ‘OFFICIAL–SENSITIVE’. All documents marked OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE must be handled appropriately and with
extra care, to ensure the information is not accessed by unauthorised people.

Agenda Item 7

33

Definitions of Audit Assurance Opinion Levels
Assurance

Definition of Recommendation Priority

Definition
A sound system of governance, risk management and control
exist across the organisation, with internal controls operating
effectively and being consistently applied to support the
achievement of strategic and operational objectives.

Reasonable
Assurance

There are generally sound systems of governance, risk
management and control exist across the organisation, with
internal controls operating effectively and being consistently
applied to support the achievement of strategic and operational
objectives.

Medium

Limited
Assurance

Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified
across the organisation. Improvement is required to the system
of governance, risk management and control to effectively
manage risks and ensure that strategic and operational
objectives can be achieved.

Low

Page 110

Substantial
Assurance

No Assurance

High

Immediate action is required to address fundamental control
gaps, weaknesses or issues of non-compliance identified
across the organisation. The system of governance, risk
management and control are inadequate to effectively manage
risk to the achievement of strategic and operational objectives.

Devon Audit Partnership
The Devon Audit Partnership has been formed under a joint committee
arrangement comprising of Plymouth, Torbay and Devon councils. We aim to be
recognised as a high-quality internal audit service in the public sector. We work
with our partners by providing a professional internal audit service that will assist
them in meeting their challenges, managing their risks and achieving their goals.
In carrying out our work we are required to comply with the Public Sector Internal
Audit Standards along with other best practice and professional standards. The
Partnership is committed to providing high quality, professional customer services
to all; if you have any comments or suggestions on our service, processes or
standards, the Head of Partnership would be pleased to receive them at
robert.hutchins@devonaudit.gov.uk

Opportunity

A significant finding. A key control is absent or is being
compromised; if not acted upon this could result in high
exposure to risk. Failure to address could result in internal or
external responsibilities and obligations not being met.
Control arrangements not operating as required resulting in a
moderate exposure to risk. This could result in minor disruption
of service, undetected errors or inefficiencies in service
provision. Important recommendations made to improve
internal control arrangements and manage identified risks.
Low risk issues, minor system compliance concerns or process
inefficiencies where benefit would be gained from improving
arrangements. Management should review, make changes if
considered necessary or formally agree to accept the risks.
These issues may be dealt with outside of the formal report
during the course of the audit.
A recommendation to drive operational improvement which
may enable efficiency savings to be realised, capacity to be
created, support opportunity for commercialisation / income
generation or improve customer experience. These
recommendations do not feed into the assurance control
environment.

Direction of Travel Indicators
Indicator
Definitions
No Progress has been made.
The action plan is not being progressed at this time; actions
remain outstanding.
Progress has been made but further work is required.
The action plan is being progressed though some actions are
outside of agreed timescales or have stalled.
Good Progress has/is being made.
Good Progress has continued.

34

Agenda Item 7

Appendix 8 - Definitions

Agenda Item 7

Intentionally Left Blank

Page
35 111

Agenda Item 8
Audit Committee
30th June 2021
CT/21/48

2020/21 Risk Management – Annual Report
Report of the County Treasurer
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee
before taking effect.
Recommendations:
i.

That the committee considers in relation to its oversight of the Risk Management Process:
a. the movement of risks during 2020/21.
b. the changes and updates to the risk management process (as supported by Devon
Audit Partnership).
c. the plans for further enhancements for Risk Management for 2021/22.
d. the summary risk position for current risks.
e. the extract of risks currently ranked the highest.
f. That the Committee endorse the Corporate Risk Management Group role and
responsibilities document (updated in June 2021).

The attached report sets out the changes to risk management during 2020/21 and confirms the
role of the Audit Committee as per the Council’s Risk Management Policy. It further summarises
the existing risk position and links to visual reporting via power BI.
Appendix A Shows the top risks at the time of writing this report along with the mitigating actions.
Appendix B Shows the Risk Management overview and reporting schedule for 2021/22.
Appendix C Corporate Risk Management Group Roles and Responsibilities.
Appendix D Power BI Audit Committee Risk Dashboard Extract

Mary Davis
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Hutchins
Tel No: (01392) 382437 Larkbeare House
Background Paper
Date
File Ref
Nil
There are no equality issues associated with this report

Page 113

Agenda Item 8

Annual Risk Management Report 2020/21

Risk Management
Annual Report for 2020/21
June 2021

Audit Committee

Page 114

P a g e |2

Agenda Item 8

Annual Risk Management Report 2020/21

Introduction
Devon Audit Partnership (DAP) continues to support and facilitate the development of the Council’s Risk
Management Framework and Processes. This support is designed to assist members, senior management
and staff in identifying risks, recognising and recording the "true" risk, mitigation thereof and promote
effective monitoring and reporting of those risks.

Background
The Risk Management Policy includes a description of the Roles and Responsibilities in relation to risk
management. In respect of the Audit Committee the wording is shown below.
The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the council’s Risk Management process is carried out
effectively. It will not normally examine specific risks to objectives in detail but satisfy itself that risks are
being monitored appropriately by the risk owner and relevant Scrutiny Committee. The Audit Committee
may also consider the “top ten” risks to ensure that action is being taken to mitigate these risks. The Audit
Committee will receive bi-annual reports on new “High” risks and other key developments within risk
management.
In practical terms this is achieved through the receipt, review and discussion of the Risk Management
Reports presented periodically to the Committee, enhanced by the subsequent actions determined by the
Committee.
As communicated in previous reports the system used to record risks (the Risk Register) continues to be
developed to ensure that risks can be recorded, reviewed and managed and the data used. Furthermore,
work continues across the Council to ensure that the data within the risk registers is clear, accurate,
relevant and, importantly, linked to organisational objectives.

2020/21 Risk Movements
Changes during 2020/21 resulted in a net increase of 32 risks during 2020/21 as per the chart below.

Risk Register Movement 2020/21
Apr-20

113

Archived

7

Added

39

Apr-21

145
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Reasons for increases in risk recording include: - changes in the risks facing the Council such as the Covid
Pandemic; an increased awareness of risk management; and additional services areas using the risk
management system.
Reasons for archiving risks include the Current Risk Score falling below that set in the Risk Management
Policy for monitoring or risks, and risks evolving and being replaced by or merged with others. Further
information on the risks archived in 2020-21 is shown in the chart below.
4
3
2
1
0

Archived risks
Adult Care & Health

Childrens' Services

Communities Public Health
Environment & Prosperity

Page 115

Highways Infrastructure
Development & Waste

P a g e |3

Agenda Item 8

Annual Risk Management Report 2020/21

Further actions, changes and events during the year
Other notable actions and changes linked to risk management during the year include:
➢ Further work with service areas and Risk Champions to develop and populate risks for inclusion on
the Risk Register, including Adopt South West.
➢ Support to service areas in developing and managing risks relating to the UK’s departure from the
EU, including during the transition period to 31 December 2020.
➢ Support to service areas in developing and managing risks relating to the Covid-19 pandemic – both
response and recovery phases.
➢ Leading and administering a Risk, Issues and Opportunities Subgroup for the Tactical Response
and Incident Management Group (stood down in April 2021.)
➢ Creation of a budget book risk register to support the monitoring of risks directly linked to the budget
setting process for 2021/22.
➢ Regional Risk Management Group - Working together to identify cross-cutting Regional Risks and
share good practice, including in relation to the development of Assurance Mapping.
➢ Work shortlisted for the CIR Risk Management Awards 2020, in the categories Public Sector Risk
Management Award and Best Use of Technology in Risk Management, including in relation to our
use of ‘live’ Power BI reporting.
The Covid-19 pandemic continued to draw officer time through response activity, but the direct impact on
the ‘normal operation’ of the risk management process is reducing; however, in some areas, such as risk
information advising tactical response activity has increased.
The management and reporting of risks during 2020/21 has continued to evolve and build on the positive
culture of expectation around risk information. This has led to greater interaction and requests for
enhancements, further growing levels of reporting, expectation and overall risks management.
The Council’s Risk Management policy and Risk Management Strategy 2020-25 is published at Manage
risks - tasks and guides (devon.gov.uk) . Any comments on the policy can be sent to
tony.d.rose@devon.gov.uk.

Current Risk Position (May 2021)
There are 128 risks recorded in the Risk Register as at 28th May 2021 including six Residual EU exit risks
in draft format. Of these, 14 were initially assessed to be Very High; however, following the application of
mitigating controls by management the Current risk score for eight had been reduced to High, four to
Medium and one to Low. One risk (Covid-19 pandemic) remains as Very High.
Of the 128 risks two show a Current Risk score of Very High, being Covid Pandemic and High Needs
Block Capacity. 26 showed a Current Risk Score of High, 38 Medium and 56 Low. The following chart
shows the risks by their Current (Residual) risk score at 28th May 2021 by service area.

All Risks - By Current Risk Score and Service Area
20
Very High

High

Medium

Low

15
10
5
0
AC&H

CoPHEP

CS

DFS

DT&BS

HIDW

L,HR&C

PSD

CW

Key – AC&H Adult Social Care and Health; CoPHEP Communities, Public Health, Environment and Prosperity; CS Children’s
Services; DFS Devon Finance Services; DT&BS Digital Transformation and Business Support; HIDW Highways, Infrastructure,
Development and Waste; L,HR&C Legal, Human Resources and Communications; PSD Policy and Strategic Development; CW
Council Wide.

Page 116

P a g e |4

Agenda Item 8

Annual Risk Management Report 2020/21

Further information on the latest position of existing risks can be found using the following link to Power BI
Reporting Power Bi – Current Risk Data.
The ‘direction of travel’ of a risk is included. This is determined from the most recent risk review, comparing
current risk score to the previous risk score (unchanged, increased or reduced), and corresponding change
in score.
In some instances, a current risk score may be higher than the original ‘inherent’ risk score; for example,
where circumstances beyond the Council’s control, such as budget availability, have increased the original
risk since its inception.

Risk Management in 2021/22
Covid-19 – As financial support from central government for the Covid-19 response comes to an end in
various sectors of the economy over the coming months, the impact of reduced monetary flow across the
private sector will directly affect the levels of funding in the public sector. This challenging future financial
position for the wider UK Economy and Public Sector will exert a strong influence on many, if not most,
risks that the Council is managing, both existing and those that are emerging.
Future Areas of Focus – Further consolidation and development of Risk Management activity will continue
in 2021/22 building on the progress made to date, including:
➢ Updating the format of risk wording – This will allow easier description and wider understating of risks,
along with a greater ability to clearly link the mitigations to the different aspects of each risk.
➢ Risk Scoring – Continued work to ensure that there is consistency of risk scoring across all areas, in
turn allowing easier comparison and prioritisation of risks and response actions.
➢ Risk Appetite – Work with service areas to develop Risk Appetite Statements for the various areas of
the Council, in turn supporting consistent approaches and expectations for risk management.
➢ Consideration of global, national and regional ‘external’ risks and their impact on the Council, it’s
service and population. For example, the World Economic Forum, Global Risks Report 2021 gives the
top 7 Global Risks in Terms of Likelihood as Extreme weather, Climate action failure, Human
environmental damage, Infectious diseases, Biodiversity loss, Digital power concentration, Digital
inequality. The report gives the top 7 Global Risks in Terms of Impact as Infectious diseases, Climate
action failure, Weapons of mass destruction, Biodiversity loss, Natural resource crises, Human
environmental damage, Livelihood crises.
➢ Risk information will be provided to Members of the Scrutiny Committees and Audit Committee via
Power BI dashboards, which will provide Members with a link to ‘live’ risk register information. A new
Members’ briefing sessions will be facilitated in October 2021.
➢ Prevention/Early Intervention We are commencing work linked to highlighting both the specific risk that
an absence of prevention/early intervention in the Authority’s service delivery would bring about, along
with building this theme into all relevant risks, in turn drawing the information out through the use of
Power Bi Reporting and allowing this to be accessed by officers and members via normal risk reporting
activity.
Counter-fraud arrangements are a high priority for the Council and
assist in the protection of public funds and accountability. During
the year we will continue to implement our Internal Audit, Counter
Fraud and Risk Management Integration Plan. This will see a more
organic approach to service delivery with the aim of improving depth
and quality in all three areas.
It will also include actions such as updating risk information based
on internal audit feedback, including in respect of mitigating actions.
Furthermore, there will be a targeted review of existing risks with a
focus on the potential for fraud, and an active programme of fraud
risk assessment with the various service areas.

Page 117

P a g e |5

Agenda Item 8

Annual Risk Management Report 2020/21

Council Objectives
Risk Management provides maximum value when it is
driven by clear links to objectives. During 2021/22 work
will be undertaken to link risks to the Council’s five
underpinning pillars (right).
The pillars support the Council to achieve its
organisational objectives, including in relation to
addressing climate change and driving the county’s
economic recovery following the Covid-19 pandemic.

Climate Change
Addressing climate change is one of the Council’s priorities, linked to the Devon Climate Emergency joint
response. The Climate Change risk is monitored accordingly, as listed at Appendix A.
Risk Management activity in 2021/22 will continue to support the enhancement of a positive risk
management culture across the Council.

Supporting Appendices
Appendix A – Risk Register Extract (See the link above for access to the latest risk register information)
Appendix B – Risk Management Diagram and 2021/22 Reporting Schedule.
Appendix C – Corporate Risk Management Group roles and responsibilities.
Appendix D – Power BI High Level Extract.

Background Paper
The World Economic Forum, Global Risks Report 2021 referred to above, available at the following location
The Global Risks Report 2021 | World Economic Forum (weforum.org)

Page 118

P a g e |6

Appendix A – Risk Register Extract
This table includes an extract of the Highest Rated Current Risks at the time of compiling this report (As at 25th May 2021)
Risk Title

Description

Service area

Inherent
score

Covid-19 Pandemic

The Covid-19 pandemic impacts the delivery of DCC Services including in relation to staff members
being unable to perform their usual functions for reasons relating to illness, self-isolation, impact of
lock-down restrictions, caring responsibilities, and Council offices being closed - resulting in the
functions of the Council and services provided to the Community being reduced. DCC Services may
also be impacted by key partners and suppliers being unable to fulfil their roles.
Due to the ongoing HNB deficit budget and changes in the SEND Code of Practice including age
range, Element 3 payments to maintained schools, cost of independent sector places and increases
in capacity for Special Schools, funding remains insufficient to meet the demand to deliver the
statutory requirements, resulting in reduced SEND outcomes for 0-25, reputational damage including
fault found by Ombudsman, and legal challenges through SENDIST.
Cause: Climate change is projected to increase global temperatures by 1.5 degree Celsius as a
minimum. Two to three degrees is likely based on the present level of international commitments to
halt greenhouse gas emissions. Impacts for Devon include potential sea-level rise of 90cm by the end
of the 21st century, current extremes of weather becoming the norm, greater flooding risk and
impacts on biodiversity that could lead to a reduction in natural services such as pollination.
Event: In Devon, this will lead to up to 1m sea level rise; drier, hotter summers; warmer, wetter
winters; and more intense storm events.
Impacts:
Health – Increased heat-related morbidity, vector-borne disease, mental health issues
Reputation – DCC is being looked to as a community leader. 25% of local authorities have now
declared climate emergencies.
Legal – There is no direct legal requirement on the authority to reduce carbon emissions or adapt to
climate change, but not acting will make it more difficult to meet other legal requirements due to the
impact of climate change on our services and infrastructure.
Financial – The Stern Review identifies the cost of climate change to the global economy to be 5% 20% per year. The costs of mitigating the worst effects can be delivered for just 1% of GDP.
Performance Standards – Climate change will affect many of the council’s performance standards
Stakeholders – Climate change will affect all of the authority’s stakeholders and partners.
Service Users – Climate change will affect all of DCC’s services and its service users
Successful Cyber Attack on the Authority

CoPHEP, Public
Health, Council-wide

30: very
High

Education and Early
Help

Insufficient capacity of the High
Needs Block to meet demand

Climate Change

Page 119

BI21 - Successful Cyber Attack

HTM2: Lack of capacity or
capability to respond effectively to
highway safety related issues
HTM3: Lack of capacity or
capability to effectively respond to
extreme weather events
SC1: Education and Learning
Services budget availability
FIN05 - Failure to Prepare or
Control Robust Budget

Continued growth in SEN number leading to increased costs for home to school transport (which is a
statutory duty). This could lead to a budget overspend which would need to be absorbed within the
Education and Learning Core budgets, reducing the ability to deliver other services and initiatives.
Cause
MTFP is not robust and financial management skills of budget managers / holders across the Council
are not suitably developed.
Event
Failure to produce and/or adhere to a balanced budget in current and future years.
Impact
•
Reduced reserves and balances.
•
Reduced levels of Service delivery.
•
Inability of the governance processes to make informed decisions.
Because of the spread of Ash Die Back Disease and its likely infection rate of 95%, the need for
intervention by the Council will increase, placing additional pressure on staff and finances.
Failure to remove diseased trees, at an appropriate time, could result in fallen branches or trees,
causing damage, injury or loss of life.

Risk Owner

Accountable
Officer

Latest
review

Steve Brown

Leadership
Group

May
2021

20: High

24: Very
High

Julia Foster

Dawn Stabb

May
2021

Planning, Transport
and Environment

30: Very
High

20: High

Doug Eltham

Dave Black

April
2021

Digital
Transformation and
Business Support,
IT Strategic
Commissioning
Highways and
Traffic

30: Very
High

20: High

Martin Lawrence

Gary Dempster

Apr
2021

24: Very
High

20: High

Ian James

Meg Booth

May
2021

Highways and
Traffic

24: Very
High

20: High

Joe Deasy

Meg Booth

Feb
2021

Education and Early
Help

18: High

20: High

Damien Jones

Dawn Stabb

May
2021

Devon Finance
Services

15: High

20: High

Angie Sinclair

Mary Davis

May
2021

Highways and
Traffic

20: High

18: High

Joe Deasy

Meg Booth

March
2021

Change
direction

Agenda Item 8

Spread of Ash Die Back Disease
(Highways and adjoining land)

Potential for fatal and severe accidents to citizens due to lack of effective and timely repair or
replacement of highway assets. This could be brought about by deteriorating highway condition,
inability to meet policy level of service, inadequate procedures or poor staff/contract performance.
Flooding, obstruction and structural damage to the highway or other transport infrastructure affecting
citizens and property causing traffic disruption, economic and health impacts.

Current
(Mitigated)
score
24: Very
High

Appendix A – Risk Register Extract

The table below outlines the mitigations recorded against the risks identified above. Each mitigation has been rated as Red, Amber, Green or Completed by the owner of the action.
Current Risk Score

Controls and Mitigations

Covid-19 Pandemic

24: Very High

Green

The situation is being monitored at
the highest levels within the Council
and through the Pandemic Incident
Management team (PIMT)

Green

Covid-19 Pandemic cont.

24: Very High

Green

Council colleagues assisting with the
prevention and recovery effort

Green

Covid-19 Pandemic cont.

24: Very High

Completed

PIMT and SIMT Structure for
Response

Green

Insufficient capacity of
the High Needs Block to
meet demand

24: Very High

Amber

Insufficient capacity of
the High Needs Block to
meet demand cont.

24: Very High

Green

Insufficient capacity of
the High Needs Block to
meet demand cont.

24: Very High

Green

Insufficient capacity of
the High Needs Block to
meet demand cont.

24: Very High

Green

Climate Change

20: High

Amber

A reduction in placements in the
Independent sector, (management
action has set a target to reduce by
40), achievement of this target is
adversely affected by statutory
protection given to parental
preference.
This is not being achieved - more
and more demand for specialist
placements exists - all maintained
special schools places are full as of
August 2018. Mitigating control is
now looking at cost management in
this sector.
New Special School settings to be
agreed
Free school (Glendinning House)
start date postponed by DfE to Sep
2020
New school (ACE Tiverton) agreed
opening Sep 2019 with additional 30
places rising to 72 over next three
years
New special school places funded
through agreed corporate budget to
increase places available within state
funded sector to reduce future
placements in Ind sector - 300
places to be created over 5 years
from Sep 2020
Fee increase control measures put in
to reduce agreement of fee increase
requests without evidence of actual
cost increase (teacher pay
increase/pension)
Operation of a corporate
Environmental Policy and
Performance system which provides
a process for individual services to
review the risks to them from climate
change.

Risk Title

Current Risk Score

Controls and Mitigations

Page 120

Risk Title

Support to Council employees,
through HR advice, Employee
Assistance Programme
etc. Remote and home-working
capabilities in place
Internal and external
communications to confirm
Government advice and local
support
Formation of Recovery Group

Green

Support to key suppliers
through temporary fee uplifts
(Adult Social Care) and via the
PPN02 process

Green

Green

Quality assurance of provision and
strategic market management.
Good QA processes in place recently confirmed in Independent
review of EHCP policy and process.

Completed

Liaison with central
Green
Provision of PPE to relevant frontGovernment and delivery in
line colleagues
conjunction with Devon District
Councils
Creation of Health Protection Board; Local Outbreak Management Plans published.
Associated Tactical Management Group Structure and Tactical Resource Incident
Management Group established.
Capping of element 3
Completed Increased capacity in maintained
payments,
special schools.
Practice is implemented in
Forward plans proposed in SEN
mainstream schools,
Strategic Review, additional
completion date of Dec 2018
capacity added over 130 places in
planned.
last two years

Amber

Cost analysis of Independent sector
placements to achieve value for
money in contracts with providers.
Block contracting arrangements with
preferred providers under discussion
in Summer 2019

Green

Review of options for specialist
units in mainstream schools to
avoid Independent placements

Amber

Green

Outside LA comparators to ascertain
LAs with similar funding composition,
levels of inclusion and outcomes but
with lower demand for EHCPs. LAs
identified and advice sought in Sep
2020

Green

SEND Transformation to
redesign the SEND workforce
to implement a universal
service that could reduce the
need for statutory services
funded in the HNB

Amber

Use of corporate Impact Assessment
process when developing policies,
projects and programmes.

Amber

The Devon Climate Emergency project which is bringing together over 25
organisations to prepare a Devon Carbon Plan (by a Net-Zero Task Force) with
community input and developing a Devon Adaptation Plan (by the Climate Impacts
Group)

Amber

Amber

Green

Green

Payments of grants to
organisations and District Councils

HNB Task Group looking at
moderation and consistent models
of funding independent
placements

Request to transfer funding from
Schools Block to HNB to
implement central outreach and
support services to mainstream
schools to increase confidence in
mainstream sector and reduce
need for specialist provision.
Core Offer with specified costs against all providers in the Independent Sector to reduce additionalities added that are not legally required
of the LA to secure

P a g e |8

Agenda Item 8

Details on the controls and mitigations planned or in place for the risks show above can be found on the following pages - Risk Mitigations (RAG rated as per the Risk
Register Entry)

Appendix A – Risk Register Extract
20: High

Green

Annual PSN Compliance process

Green

Business Continuity Planning

Amber

Disaster Recovery Plan

20: High

Amber

Policy and Guidance

Green

Training and awareness

Green

New cyber security platform rolled out

20: High

Green

Highway Monitoring

Amber

Safety repairs

Green

Programme flexibility

Green

Staff training and audit procedures

20: High

Amber

Highway serviceability repairs

20: High

Green

Green

Regularly review and update Winter
Service and Emergency Plan to
ensure risks from severe weather
are well managed.

Green

Timely planning, programming
and delivery of drainage and
structural works to address
damage on the network.

Green

Preparedness. Ensuring processes
and procedures are in place to be
proactive in response thereby
reducing the effect of severe
weather damage.

HTM3: Lack of capacity
or capability to effectively
respond to extreme
weather events cont.

20: High

Green

Green

Availability of resources

SC1: Education and
Learning Services
budget availability

20: High

Amber

Green

TCS monitoring and regular review
across all areas of spend to identify
potential problems and overspend.

Green

SC1: Education and
Learning Services
budget availability cont.
FIN05 - Failure to
Prepare or Control
Robust Budget

20: High

Amber

Highway Monitoring. Systems in
place for public and staff reporting.
Term contractor available to
resource and respond. safety
inspection cycle to identify repairs.
Regularly review Asset Management
approach to ensure that damage
repairs and reactive action are
prioritised with regard to impact on
economy and traffic usage
Management actions within TCS
including route analysis and
efficiency savings. Target for
2017/18 met but overspend remains
due to ongoing SEN transport costs.
Growth and market forces build into
budget preparation and planning.

Green

Amber

20: High

Green

CLT and County Council Approve
the Development of a MTFS.

Amber

Spread of Ash Die Back
Disease (Highways and
adjoining land)

18: High

Amber

Amber

Spread of Ash Die Back
Disease (Highways and
adjoining land) cont.

18: High

Green

Monitor High risk trees on DCC
highway or land. The frequency will
be increased as evidence becomes
available that the disease has
spread enough to increase
likelihood.
Identify and engage with
stakeholders to support collaboration
and partnership working in
addressing management of ADB.

Additional budget allocated for
2020/21 with ongoing monitoring and
growth predictions.
Financial Literacy survey to obtain a
benchmark of the level of
understanding from budget
managers.
Notify landowners of potentially
dangerous trees and where
necessary following up with
enforcement.

Policy regularly reviewed and
Completed Actions were identified through
adjusted to reduce areas of
corporate transport project board
discretionary spend. Revised
which have been implemented.
Post 16 Policy phased in from
September 2017.
Review of budget for 2021/22 taking into account continued growth in SEND
transport request.

Page 121

BI21 - Successful Cyber
Attack
BI21 - Successful Cyber
Attack cont.
HTM2: Lack of capacity
or capability to respond
effectively to highway
safety related issues
HTM2: Lack of capacity
or capability to respond
effectively to highway
safety related issues
cont.
HTM3: Lack of capacity
or capability to effectively
respond to extreme
weather events

Amber

Green

Ongoing support from DFS.

Amber

Green

Communication and Reporting

Ongoing training provided to the
budget managers within services.

Complete

Cabinet support for proposals
Green
Finance resource is available to
outlining how Devon County
support the costs associated with
Council should manage its
proposals for managing Ash Die
responsibility for Ash Dieback in
Back.
the county regarding public
safety and the environment.
Adequate resource available to deliver outcomes required from the DCC tree safety management policy.

Agenda Item 8
P a g e |9

Agenda Item 8

Appendix B – Risk Management Model & Reporting Schedule 2021/22

Risk Management in Devon County Council

Leadership Group
The schedule for reporting to the Leadership Group is based on the provision of information prior
to drafting reports to Members, along with regular updates during the year, ideally at least
quarterly.
In year update reporting the Leadership Group will contain information on the position of risks at
that time along with relevant background and detailed actions linked to the further enhancement of
Risk Management across the Council.
The Annual Report will highlight changes that have taken place in the previous year, detail the risk
position at that point in time and make note of future plans for the development of Risk
Management.

Member Committees
The reporting schedule for Member Committees takes the form of in-year update papers provided
to Scrutiny Committee Members, which utilise Power BI reporting links. These papers will focus on
relevant risks for that area.
Reporting to the Audit Committee comprises an Annual Report and relevant in-year updates. The
reports will focus on the overall risk management process/practices and identify the highest rated
risks at that point in time.
Where relevant Contact will be made with representatives from each service area prior to reports
being submitted to Member Committees with a view to discussing the risks and proposed reports.

Page 122

P a g e | 10

Agenda Item 8

Appendix C CRMG – Roles, Responsibilities & Membership

Appendix C

Corporate Risk Management Group
Roles, Responsibilities and Membership
Updated June 2021

Page 123

P a g e | 11

Agenda Item 8

Appendix C CRMG – Roles, Responsibilities & Membership

Devon Audit Partnership (DAP) continues to support and facilitate the development of the Council’s risk management
framework and processes. This support is designed to assist members, senior management and staff in identifying
risks, recognising and recording the "true" risk, mitigation thereof and promoting effective monitoring and reporting of
those risks.
The diagram on the right has been
produced to reflect the overall risk
management framework within the Council.
At the centre are the Risk Registers and
feeding out are four main drivers of the
process: ▪

Risk Management
The actual day to day management of
risks.

▪

Risk Reporting
From informal discussions and
reporting to Management teams and
Leadership Group, through to the Audit
Committee.

▪

Data Quality
The quality of the information contained
in the registers. Are the risks true risks
or failed objectives? Do the controls
reflect the scoring? Have they been
reviewed in line with scoring?

▪

Framework
The support to make risk management
happen. The policy, the system and the people involved.

Development of risk management across the Council has included work to clarify responsibilities for all involved.
Over the last 24 months we have refreshed the Risk Management Policy and set out the Risk Management Strategy
2020-2025. The Risk Management Policy defines the role of the Corporate Risk Management Group (CRMG):
“This group meets as required to discuss risk management at the authority. The members of this group have a
responsibility within their designated areas for ensuring risk management is carried out in line with agreed polices and
processes. The membership will change over time to reflect changes to staffing and the organisation.”
So, what does this mean in practice?
Ongoing interactions mean that the majority of framework development items are identified, assessed and actioned on
an ongoing basis. Meetings of the Corporate Risk Management Group include discussion on the ‘top’ risks facing the
Council, whether these are worded and are scored consistently and whether the ‘top’ risks accurately reflect the
pressing issues that the Council should be concerned about.
Where possible meetings / interactions take place to coincide with reporting rounds for the Scrutiny and Audit
Committees. Many of the Group’s members play an active role in prompting updates and reporting risks to their
respective management teams. This is potentially the single most important focus for Corporate Risk Management
Group members i.e. the ability to use local knowledge to ensure that risk management is promoted and happening in
line with corporate expectations, continuing what many members already do to support risk reporting in their areas.
The Risk Management Specialist (Devon Audit Partnership) continues to assist business areas and partners where
appropriate in developing risks for their service, and clearly linked to objectives. There is also an ongoing programme
of review of the risk register, support for Corporate Risk Management Group members and prompts to individuals
where necessary.
For all of this to be effective the membership of the Corporate Risk Management Group needs to remain up to date.
The three key categories based on expected interactions with Risk Management as shown in the diagram below.

Page 124

P a g e | 12

Agenda Item 8

Appendix C CRMG – Roles, Responsibilities & Membership
The core members are actively involved in Risk Management
within their areas and designated as Risk Champions.
Facilitation, organisation and specialist support is provided by
the Risk Management Specialist (Devon Audit Partnership).
The System Expert is involved in the facilitation of system use
as well as system design updates (considering system
limitations).
Finally, there are several Interested Parties. Although not
actively involved, those in this category are kept aware of
developments. They may provide specific insights and may
also need to draw information from the Risk Management
process or individual Risk Champions.
The current Corporate Risk Management Group membership is
shown in the table below along with the category for interaction
as per those outlined above.
Post Title

Name

Area

Mary Davis

County Treasurer

Chris Dyer

Highways, Infrastructure, Development
& Waste

Fiona Fleming

Children’s Services

Risk Champion

Adam Catlow

Children’s Services

Jacky Wilson
Liam
Jennings

Legal Services & Communications
Digital Transformation and Business
Support

Risk Champion
(Deputy)
Risk Champion
Risk Champion

Sarah Aggett

Adult Care & Health

County Treasurer

Chief Engineer Highways and
Built Environments
Head of Commissioning
(Children)
Manager – Children’s
Management Information
Head of Human Resources
Contract, Performance &
Commissioning Manager
Management Information
Manager
Senior Management
Information Officer
Head of Communities
Director of Public Health
Head of Policy
Assistant County Treasurer –
Financial Systems and
Processes
Health and Safety Manager
Head of Devon Audit
Partnership
Risk and Audit Manager
Counter Fraud Manager
Project & Programme Manager
Auditor (Devon Audit
Partnership – Risk
Management Team)
Apprentice (Devon Audit
Partnership – Risk
Management Team)
Senior Emergency
Preparedness Resilience and
Response Manager

Stephen
Jenkinson
Simon
Kitchen
Steve Brown
Roland Pyle

Adult Care & Health
Communities
Public Health
Policy and Strategic Development

Martin Oram

Finance

Simon Bates
Robert
Hutchins

Health and Safety

Tony Rose

Risk Management Specialist

Ken Johnson

Counter Fraud Services

Mark Painter

Risk Management System
Administrator

Kate
MacDowall

Risk Management Support

Ola
Niemirowicz

Risk Management Support

Amanda
Palmer

Public Health

Assurance

Category
Leadership Group
Risk Management
Lead
Risk Champion

Risk Champion
Risk Champion
(Deputy)
Risk Champion
Risk Champion
Risk Champion
Risk Champion

Risk Champion
Management &
Support
Management &
Support
Management &
Support
Management &
Support
Support

Support

Interested Party

Page 125

P a g e | 13

Agenda Item 8

Appendix C CRMG – Roles, Responsibilities & Membership

Post Title

Name

Area

Category

Crown Services Officer &
Business Support Manager
Audit Manager

Rosalie
Robinson
Joanne
McCormick

Legal Services & Communications
(Coroners’ Services)

Interested Party

Councillor

Andrew
Saywell

Corporate Insurance Manager
Strategic Information
Governance Manager

Emily Wilkins
Martin
Lawrence

Cabinet Member (Organisational
Development, Workforce & Digital
Transformation portfolio)
Legal Services & Communications
Digital Transformation and Business
Support

Internal Audit

Interested Party
Interested Party

Interested Party
Interested Party

There are twelve Risk Champions (including deputies). Ten being the minimum to be effective with representation
from each area. The Risk Champions’ core responsibilities in respect of risk management is to ensure that risk
reporting happens in their area and that risks are regularly maintained. Membership has changed as required in line
with organisational and staffing changes.
Required Actions
➢

Please review the information in the table above to ensure that it accurately reflects role titles and business areas.

➢

Please confirm whether Risk Champions remain best placed to represent your area.

➢

Please advise of any areas of the Council which you think may not be represented above but should be.

➢

If you have any further observations or proposals in developing Risk Management please contact
tony.d.rose@devon.gov.uk

The Corporate Risk Management Group membership is included on the Risk Management section of Inside Devon
webpages.

Page 126

P a g e | 14

Agenda Item 8

Appendix D – Power BI Extract

This is a point in time high level extract of the Power BI Risk Dashboard for the
Audit Committee.

Audit%20Committe
e%20Dashboard%20-%20June%202021.pdf

Page 127
P a g e | 15

Agenda Item 9
CT/21/49
Audit Committee
30th June 2021
DEVON COUNTY COUNCIL AUDIT COMMITTEE
Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy and detailed Strategy & Response Plan
Report of the County Treasurer
Please note that the following recommendations are subject to confirmation by the Committee
before taking effect.
Recommendation: that the Committee approves the updated Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
Policy (Appendix 1) and detailed Strategy and Response Plan attached (See Appendix 2).

1

Introduction

1.1

Senior Management of the Council recognises the benefit from, and need for, improved
accountability and resilience in the face of the increasing risk of fraud. The update of the AntiFraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy (Appendix 1) and detailed Strategy and Response Plan
attached (See Appendix 2) will assist the Council in preventing, detecting and investigating
fraud and corruption.

1.2

Assessing the risk of fraud happening is an important step in ‘Acknowledging’ that fraud is a
threat, this aligns with the CIPFA Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally strategy for the 2020’s,
leading on to the prevention and detection of fraud.

1.3

Strong Governance is a cornerstone of managing fraud; having robust arrangements and
executive support to ensure anti-fraud, bribery and corruption measures are embedded
throughout the organisation is vital. Further, a holistic approach to tackling fraud is part of good
governance.

2

Other Updates

2.1

Council officers from Counter Fraud, Risk Management, Internal Audit and service areas are
working to further develop a robust fraud risk analysis and response for DCC taking into
account the following areas of risk intrinsic to fraudulent activity.
•

Financial risk – What is the amount in £’s that could be being lost through Fraud. DCC will
have to determine what is an acceptable risk for them? A ‘zero tolerance’ approach is
adopted as fraudulent activity is constantly changing and low value frauds tend to have a
high frequency, whereas high value frauds tend to have a lower frequency of occurrence,
both types of frauds will however effectively prove have a high financial cost to the Council.

•

Reputational risk – What is the potential for damage to the organisation and its officers?
Media coverage on any high profile fraud or lack of perceived control on low level fraud can
be damaging leading to low staff morale, a lack of public trust in the organisation and
further scrutiny by the public and or Governmental or Regulatory bodies. This in turn can
lead to further reputational damage.

Page 129

1

Agenda Item 9
•

The risk / threat to life of serious injury – Some types of fraud can ultimately lead to the loss
of life and or serious injury. The use of substandard products or labour, the lack of the
correct certification and or documentation may lead to an organisation being held at least
partly responsible if they cannot show that the correct checks and balances are in place.
Availability of suitably trained staff may result in catastrophic failure of safety mechanisms
in place to protect the public.

•

Criminal and or civil liability – Where a loss is incurred due to fraudulent activity it may
affect those we serve as an organisation, it may affect our partners and those further down
the chain. It is important to be able to defend the organisation and its stance in respect of
fraud in order to show that where possible the risk has been minimised. As in 3.6 the
organisation could fail to ensure there are adequate staff or resources (due to available
finances) to make sure that all relevant checks are and have been undertaken in line with
our organisational responsibilities.

•

Ongoing service availability - Where funding and reputational risks occur, then future
funding and service availability can also be affected. If a scheme is seen to be ‘not working’
or not cost effective then resources may be diverted elsewhere. Where funding is lost
through fraudulent activity this of course has a direct effect on the availability of funding and
resources to provide an effective ongoing service anyway.

•

Impact on victims – It is important to understand what the ‘risk’ is to the victims of fraud.
Whilst the Local Authority may consider itself the victim of any fraud we must remember
that we only act as service providers and procurers for local people and have a ‘fiduciary
responsibility’ to adequately protect the public purse. Any loss through fraud can have
multiple victims, especially at a time when public finances are so tight. A loss of revenue or
other essential funding effects all of the above scenarios and can ultimately lead to
services being withdrawn and staffing reductions. Therefore it is clear that fraud losses
affect us all and must be minimised.

3

Focused reviews and ongoing work

3.1

Procurement. Officers are developing a proactive data analysis approach to counter fraud
using PowerBI, officers are coding software which allows for a higher detailed analysis than
would normally be available. Access to direct and real time data can mean that concerns
raised in partner organisations can be reviewed and prevent risks from occurring.

3.2

Pensions. as above, a data analysis approach is being considered to protect and guard
against similar offences and offending patterns.

3.3

Integration with Audit Plan Work - Reducing fraud risk in systems is a key preventative
measure. Sharing known previous examples of fraud in the respective areas of business, as
well as ‘red flag’ issues, can assist in improving controls and may point towards potential
fraudulent activity.

3.4

National Fraud Initiative – The bi-annual NFI data has been successfully supplied to Cabinet
Office, and ‘matched’ results are available. Work has started on investigating these matches.

3.5

Investigation of potentially fraudulent activity – investigation of ‘live’ cases continues.

Page 130

2

Agenda Item 9
3.6

Training and awareness – The Counter Fraud Manager and team facilitate general fraud
awareness training, and are also aiming to provide more detailed training, awareness, advice
and support on several specific areas of LA business. The new Anti-Fraud, Bribery and
Corruption eLearning course is available to all staff and will be a useful tool in raising
awareness and protection from fraud.

Mary Davis
Electoral Divisions: All
Local Government Act 1972
List of Background Papers
Contact for Enquiries: Robert Hutchins
Tel No: (01392) 382437
Larkbeare House
Background Paper
Date
Nil
There are no equality issues associated with this report

File Ref

Page 131

3

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

Devon County Council

Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy
Date – June 2021
CONTENTS
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Anti – Fraud, Bribery and Corruption statement
Introduction
What is Fraud?
What is Bribery?
What is Corruption?
Avenues for reporting fraud, bribery and corruption
Responsibilities

Page 132

3
3
4
4
4
5
5

4

Agenda Item 9
Devon County Council
Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy
1. Anti-fraud, bribery and corruption statement.
1.1.

Fraud in all its forms is now the most common criminal offence in the UK costing the economy
£193 Billion a year. This equates to £3,000 per head of population in the UK (or £7,000 per
household). It is estimated to cost Local Authorities anywhere between £2.2 and £7.4 Billion
annually, losses that council front line services can ill afford and which can contribute to council
tax increases year on year. The cost of fraudulent activity impacts most markedly on those
requiring the most help in our society, it is therefore imperative that we combat this criminal
activity appropriately and effectively.

1.2.

Fraud, bribery and corruption are by definition crimes and should not be tolerated. Any fraud
against Devon County Council is a fraud against the public purse and therefore we will build
processes and policies that will prevent and detect fraud and pursue those who would commit
fraud; maximising our resources and ensuring that the public retain confidence in Devon
County Council.

1.3.

The public are entitled to expect the local authority to conduct its affairs with honesty and
openness and to demand the highest levels of integrity and conduct from its staff, Members
and partners. The policy is part of an interconnected approach by Devon County Council,
which is committed to making sure that the opportunity for fraud, bribery and corruption is
reduced to the lowest possible level. The Council will pursue and endeavour to bring to justice
those who commit fraud, and its related offences.

2. Introduction
2.1.

The Council’s elected members and employees play an important role in creating and
maintaining a culture which requires everyone to act honestly and with integrity at all times and
to safeguard the resources for which they are responsible. Devon County Council’s policy is
that:
•

any level of fraud, corruption or bribery in or against the Council will not be tolerated.

•

every attempt will be made to deter and prevent fraud.

•

opportunities for fraud and corruption will be reduced to the lowest possible level.

•

elected members and employees will be made aware of their obligation to report
suspicions of fraud.

•

mechanisms will be in place for elected members and employees to report fraud.

•

any suspicion of fraud will be thoroughly investigated and dealt with appropriately.

Page 133

5

Agenda Item 9
•

any evidence of criminal activity will be reported to the Devon Audit Partnership Counter
Fraud Team; and

•

mechanisms will be in place for seeking redress in respect of money defrauded.

2.2. Devon County Council also expects that individuals and organisations (e.g. suppliers,
contractors and service providers) that it interacts with will act towards Devon County Council
with integrity and without thought or actions involving fraud. Where relevant, Devon County
Council will include appropriate clauses in its contracts about the consequences of fraud, bribery
and corruption; evidence of such acts is likely to lead to a termination of the particular contract
and may lead to prosecution or other sanction.
3. What is Fraud?
3.1. There are a number of criminal offences that relate to what might commonly be termed as ‘fraud’
that are covered by the Theft Act 1968 and the Theft Act 1978. However the Fraud Act 2006
created a new general offence of fraud with three definitions:•

Fraud by false representation, i.e. if an individual dishonestly makes a false representation
and intends by making the representation to make gain for himself or another, or to cause
loss to another or expose another to risk of loss.

•

Fraud by failing to disclose information, i.e. if an individual dishonestly fails to disclose to
another person information which he is under a legal duty to disclose and intends, by means
of abuse of that position, to make a gain for himself or another, or to cause loss to another
or expose another to risk of loss; and

•

Fraud by abuse of position, i.e. if an individual occupies a position in which he is expected to
safeguard, or not to act against, the financial interests of another person, and he dishonestly
abuses that position, and intends, by means of the abuse of that position, to make a gain for
himself or another, or to cause loss to another or expose another to a risk of loss.

4. What is Bribery?
4.1.

Broadly, the Bribery Act 2010 defines bribery as giving or receiving a financial or other
advantage in connection with the "improper performance" of a position of trust, or a function
that is expected to be performed impartially or in good faith.

4.2.

Bribery does not have to involve cash or an actual payment exchanging hands and can take
many forms such as a gift, lavish treatment during a business trip or tickets to an event.

4.3.

Some simple examples are:
•

Bribery in order to secure or keep a contract.

•

Bribery to secure an order.

•

Bribery to gain any advantage over a competitor.

•

Bribery of a local, national, or foreign official to secure a contract.

Page 134

6

Agenda Item 9

4.4.

•

Bribery to turn a blind eye to a health safety issue or poor performance or substitution of
materials or false labour charges.

•

Bribery to falsify an inspection report or obtain a certificate.

Section 2 of the Bribery Act 2010 makes it an offence to accept a bribe.

5. What is Corruption?
5.1.

Corruption is the abuse of entrusted power for private gain. It can be classified as grand, petty
and political, depending on the amounts of money lost and the sector where it occurs.

5.2.

‘Misconduct in a public office’ is a common law offence and is committed when the holder of a
public office acts, or omits to act, in a way contrary to his duty.

6. Avenues for Reporting Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
6.1.

Devon County Council has in place avenues for reporting suspicions of fraud, bribery and
corruption. Employees, elected members, members of the public, contractors and partners
should report any concerns or suspicions to:
Counter Fraud Team Manager at Devon Audit Partnership
By telephone – 01752 304450 or 01752 306710
By email counter.fraud@devon.gov.uk
In writing – Counter Fraud Services Manager, Devon Audit Partnership, Floor 4 Midland
House, Notte Street, Plymouth PL1 2EJ

6.2. Employees can also report their concerns to their line manager (for school employee’s head
teacher, Chair of Governors), trade union representative or the Head of Legal Services. ‘Protect’,
an independent charity provides free, confidential and practical advice if someone is unsure of
how to raise a concern. They operate a Whistleblowing Advice Line - Tel: 020 3117 2520
6.3. All matters will be treated seriously and dealt with in a professional manner. If you ask us to treat
the matter in confidence, we will do our utmost to respect your request but it is not possible to
guarantee confidentiality. Vigorous and prompt investigations will be carried out into all cases of
actual or suspected fraud discovered or reported.
7. Responsibilities
7.1. The Chief Finance Officer as “Section 151 Officer” has a statutory responsibility under Section
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to ensure the proper arrangements for the Council’s
financial affairs and, together with the Chief Executive and members of the Corporate
Management Team, has overall responsibility for Devon County Councils counter-fraud policy
and procedures, and for establishing and maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievement of the Councils policies, aims and objectives.
7.2. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify the principal
risks, to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks and to manage them effectively. Managing
fraud risk will be seen in the context of the management of this wider range of risks.
7.3.

Responsibilities include:

Page 135

7

Agenda Item 9
•

Developing a fraud risk profile and undertaking a regular review of the fraud risks associated
with each of the key organisational objectives in order to keep the profile current.

•

Establishing an effective anti-fraud policy and fraud response plan, commensurate to the
level of fraud risk identified in the fraud risk profile.

•

Designing an effective control environment to prevent fraud commensurate with the fraud
risk profile;
•
o
o

Establishing appropriate mechanisms for:
reporting fraud risk issues.
reporting to the Audit and Governance Committee

•

Liaising with Risk Management and the Audit and Governance Committee.

•

Ensuring that Devon County Councils recruitment policy is adhered to and that effective
steps are taken at recruitment to establish, as far as possible, the honesty and integrity of
potential employees, whether for permanent, temporary or casual posts.

•

Making sure that all staff are aware of the Organisation’s anti-fraud policy and know what
their responsibilities are in relation to combating fraud.

•

Ensuring that appropriate counter-fraud training is available and provided to staff.

•

Ensuring that vigorous and prompt investigations are carried out if fraud occurs or is
suspected.

•

Ensuring that appropriate legal and / or disciplinary action is taken against perpetrators of
fraud.

•

Taking appropriate disciplinary action against supervisors/managers where
supervisory/managerial failures have contributed to the commission of fraud.

•

Taking appropriate disciplinary action against staff who intentionally fail to report fraud.

•

Taking appropriate action to recover assets.

•

Ensuring that appropriate action is taken to minimise the risk of similar frauds occurring in
future.

7.4. Operational managers / supervisors are responsible for:
•

Ensuring that an adequate system of internal control exists within their areas of
responsibility and that controls operate effectively.

•

Preventing and detecting fraud.

•

Assessing the types of risk involved in the operations for which they are responsible.

•

Reviewing and testing the control systems for which they are responsible regularly.

Page 136

8

Agenda Item 9
•

Ensuring that controls are being complied with and their systems continue to operate
effectively.

•

Implementing new controls to reduce the risk of similar fraud occurring where frauds have
taken place.

7.5. Every member of staff and elected member of the council is responsible for:
•

Acting with propriety in the use of Devon County Councils resources and the handling and
use of funds whether they are involved with cash or payments systems, receipts or dealing
with suppliers and or customers.

•

Being alert to the possibility that unusual events or transactions could be indicators of
fraud.

•

Reporting details immediately through the appropriate channel if they suspect that a fraud
has been committed or see any suspicious acts or events.

•

Complying with the Devon County Council Employee Handbook and the Devon County
Council’s Code of Conduct specifically in respect of the declaration of ‘Gifts and
Hospitality’ and potential conflicts of interest.

•

Cooperating fully with those conducting internal checks, reviews, or fraud investigations.

Page 137

9

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2

Devon County Council

Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategy / Response Plan
Date – June 2021
CONTENTS

1.

Strategy / Response Plan

3

2.

Govern

4

3.

Acknowledge

4

4.

Prevent

5

5.

Pursue

6

6.

Protect

6

7.

Information Technology and Data Matching

6

8.

Sanctions Guidelines

7

9.

Legislative Framework

7

10. Sanctions Available to the Local Authority

8

11. Standards of Evidence

8

12. Formal Cautions

8

13. Administering a Fixed or Civil Penalty

9

14. Prosecutions

9

15. Factors for Consideration

9

16. Public Interest

10

17. Summary

10

Page 138

10

Agenda Item 9
1. Strategy/Response Plan
1.1 Fraud is a major drain on the Public Purse it is therefore imperative that all Public Sector Staff
prevent fraudulent activity and understand the threats and risks involved to the country’s
economy and specifically the local economy. This Strategy will assist Devon County Council in
becoming more resilient to current threats and those identified in the future. The aim is to
minimise fraudulent activity with a zero tolerance approach to those who commit criminal acts
of fraud against Devon County Council whether the threat is from outside or internally within
the Council.
1.2 Tackling fraud is an integral part of putting finances on a stable footing and ensuring that taxpayers’ hard-earned money is used to protect resources for frontline services. Fraud has a
serious effect on all parts of the economy and costs the UK in the region of £193 billion per
year. The cost of fraud to local government is estimated at £2.2 - £7.4 billion a year. (The
Annual Fraud Indicator 2017)
1.3 This Strategy aligns with the Core Values of Equality, Trust, retaining the confidence of the
people of Devon and should be read in conjunction with the Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
Policy 2021. (To be linked when authorised)
1.4 Through its arrangements with Devon Audit Partnership, the Council has a dedicated Counter
Fraud Team which delivers professional counter fraud advice, guidance and investigatory
work. The team will endeavour to exceed the expectations of the local population in combating
fraud; this in turn will allow the Council to use its resources on frontline services for those who
legitimately need them as well as promoting re-investment in Devon, to make it a place where
people want to live, learn, work and visit.
1.5 Devon County Council will Govern, Acknowledge, Prevent, Pursue and Protect in respect of
any threats posed by fraudulent activity whether by individuals or organisations with a view to
making the most of its finances and promoting fairness and opportunity within the County.
1.6 The Strategy’s key objectives are to:
•

Assess and understand the fraud risks faced by Devon County Council.

•

Commit the correct support and resource to tackle fraud risk areas identified.

•

Maintain a consistent and robust anti-fraud response.

•

Make better use of information and technology to counter threats of fraud.

•

Ensure all fraud controls and processes are effective and continue to enhance these.

•

Further develop an effective anti-fraud culture.

•

Pursue fraud debt recovery and the use of Civil Sanctions when appropriate.

•

Further develop capability and capacity to address and deter fraudsters.

•

Embrace/encourage collaboration across all Local Authorities and Law Enforcement
Agencies in the fight against fraudulent activity.

•

Promote a zero-tolerance approach to fraud.

Page 139

11

Agenda Item 9

2. Govern
2.1 Devon County Council will ensure that it has robust arrangements and executive support to
ensure anti-fraud, bribery and corruption measures are embedded throughout the organisation.
Having an overall holistic approach to tackling fraud is part of good governance.
2.2 It understands that the tone is set from the top of any organisation and should be included in
local counter fraud strategies and response plans.
2.3 Local authorities can ensure that their counter fraud response is comprehensive and effective
by considering their performance against each of the six themes – the six Cs – that emerged from
2016 research:
•

Culture – The tone is set from the top.

•

Capability – Increase fraud awareness across the organisation by giving individuals the
ability to recognise and know where to report fraud when they suspect it.

•

Competence – Access to Accredited Counter Fraud Specialists.

•

Capacity – Ensuring sufficient resource is available to counter fraud.

•

Communication – Ensure that all Members, staff and contractors are aware of their
obligations.

•

Collaboration – Utilise and assist other counter fraud agencies to ensure maximum
effectiveness.

3. Acknowledge
3.1 Devon County Council acknowledges that it is not immune to fraud and that it has a duty to
implement measures to protect the public purse in all areas of its business. Fraud is a hidden
crime and the Council should not enable fraudulent or corrupt activity to remain hidden.
3.2 The Council commits to:
•

Involving the Chief Executive in championing the fight against fraud and corruption;

•

Engaging with the Audit Committee, seeking their endorsement for counter fraud and
corruption work in the Council;

•

Committing appropriate resources to identify, assess, detect and prevent fraud and
corruption throughout all areas of business within the Council;

•

Assessing and trying to understand the fraud, bribery and corruption risks facing the
Council now and in the future;

•

Maintaining a robust counter fraud and corruption response;

•

Keeping records of all suspected and confirmed cases of fraud and corruption;

•

Working with all available internal and external partners and law enforcement agencies with
a view to reducing the risk of fraud across all areas of the Council’s business;

Page 140

12

Agenda Item 9
•

Using appropriate data matching tools available to deter and detect fraudulent/corrupt
activity;

•

Supporting and passing on best practice to other Authorities in respect of counter fraud and
corruption work;

•

Adopting best practice and learning from other Authorities in respect of counter fraud and
corruption work;

•

Ensuring that all staff understand how, where and when to report suspicions of fraudulent
activity.

3.3 Only through its acknowledgment that it faces the continuing threat of fraud and corruption can
the Council effectively counter the threat. The Council has, through its arrangements with
Devon Audit Partnership, committed to retaining the expertise of a qualified counter fraud
investigative capability; acknowledging the potentially wider risks from corporate fraud and
corruption and its obligation to investigate all types of fraud.
4. Prevent
4.1 The best way to fight fraud is to prevent it from happening in the first place. Prevention extends
beyond making sure that that there are appropriate systems and process controls in place. It
also depends upon the development of an effective anti-fraud and corruption culture that
reinforces a zero tolerance and deters criminals from committing fraud in the first place.
4.2 The Council commits to:
•

Make better use of information and technology in the analysis and prediction of fraudulent
or corrupt activity in all areas of the Council’s business;

•

Use all internally available data to maximise detection of fraud and corruption;

•

Encourage other Local Authorities and stakeholders to share their data in order to
maximise the detection of fraud and corruption;

•

Share intelligence with other Authorities and relevant Law Enforcement Agencies in order
to combat fraud and corruption;

•

Use all areas of the National Fraud data matching Initiative to best effect;

•

Support local and national initiatives to support the fight against fraud and corruption;

•

Use the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) to maximise information gathering in order to
combat fraud and corruption;

•

Implement the local government counter fraud and corruption strategy ‘Fighting Fraud and
Corruption Locally’, to improve the Council’s resilience to fraud and corruption;

•

Arrange Fraud Awareness training to be offered out to all internal staff and Members as
well as, where appropriate, 3rd parties linked to the Council’s business;

•

Maximise publicity through advertising campaigns in diverse media areas to discourage
those who would potentially commit fraud;

•

Encourage publication of court convictions in order to dissuade potential future offenders;

•

Ensure that there is a clear reporting route available for staff and the public to report
suspicions of fraudulent and corrupt activity;

Page 141

13

Agenda Item 9
•

Ensure that where a criminal offence is suspected that it is referred to the DAP Counter
Fraud Team;

•

Ensure that the DAP Counter Fraud Team are identified as a reporting line within the
Whistleblowing Policy if the whistle-blower feels that this would be the most effective route.

4.3 A strong anti-fraud culture that is driven from the top down must underpin any preventative
approach. This requires continuous active promotion and needs to include staff, members of
the public and 3rd parties involved in the provision and procurement of the Council’s services.
An anti-fraud culture will seek to motivate staff and ensure that they understand the
importance of tackling fraud and corruption, recognise fraud and corruption and know how and
where to report it.
4.4 The Council will seek to change attitudes and behaviours towards fraud and corruption,
positively re-enforcing individuals’ responsibility for preventing, detecting and reporting fraud,
and deterring future criminal activity against the Council.

5. Pursue
5.1 Prevention is always preferable. However, determined fraudsters will evade even the best
controls, and where fraud and corruption does occur enforcement must be comprehensive.
The Counter Fraud Team will appropriately investigate all allegations to a conclusion, ensuring
that where relevant the offender is prosecuted or other appropriate sanction is applied.
5.2 The Council will ensure that the public, and potential fraudsters, are made aware that when
public funds are stolen, every effort will be made to recover losses and confiscate assets
gained as a result of criminal activity.
5.3 The Council commits to:
•

Using the services of a dedicated Counter Fraud Team to investigate all allegations of
fraud and corruption concerning Devon County Council;

•

Ensuring that the Counter Fraud investigators (either employed or contracted) are trained
to the appropriate standard, with investigations carried out in a professional manner and
evidence collected and retained in accordance with the law;

•

Encouraging a higher priority for the recovery of fraudulent losses, to include the use of civil
sanctions;

•

Ensuring legal capability and capacity is sufficient to pursue fraudsters;

•

Aid in the creation a more collaborative and supportive law enforcement response across
Devon to encourage co-operation and joint working (e.g. across all 10 Devon Local
Authorities, Trading Standards, the DWP, HMRC, UK Border Agency and the NHS etc;

•

Consider the use of Compensation Orders or the Proceeds of Crime Act to recover profits
made by fraudulent means;

•

Use publicity from successful Prosecutions to deter others who could potentially commit
similar offences in the future.

6. Protect

Page 142

14

Agenda Item 9
6.1 The Council commits to protecting against serious and organised crime, protecting individuals
from becoming victims of crime and protecting against the harm that fraud can do to the
community.
6.2 This will also cover protecting public funds, protecting its organisational integrity and reputation
from fraud and cybercrime, and also protecting itself from future frauds as far as can be
reasonably expected.

7. Information Technology and Data Matching
7.1 The Council undertakes to make better use of the information that it already holds for various
Council activities in order to drive out fraud from its systems. It will look to continuously
improve and expand its ability to acknowledge, prevent and detect fraud in all areas of its
business through:
•
•
•

The use of internal Data Matching checks to proactively Prevent/Detect fraudulent activity.
Information Sharing: Intelligence is key in the modern fight against fraud. All appropriate
Internal /External Data warehousing / matching opportunities will be explored and
maximised
Using a proactive/joined up approach to investigations across the Council and Cross
boundary (if appropriate) that will generate income and savings;

8. Sanctions Guidelines
8.1 The Council seeks to provide value for money services to the public and has a statutory duty to
protect the Public Purse.
8.2 In the interest of making fair and balanced decisions, the Council will refer to sanction
guidelines, taking into account various factors, not only the monetary value of the offence. All
cases will be evaluated on their own merit and any mitigating circumstances will be taken into
account.
8.3 The Council will co-operate with other agencies such as the Department for Work and
Pensions, the Police and the Crown Prosecution Service to secure the conviction of offenders.
Devon County Council will also instigate criminal proceedings independently of these
organisations where appropriate.
8.4 These guidelines will assist in determining the appropriate action to be taken in relation to each
case. The initial recommendation on what action is most appropriate to take lies with the
Investigator. The Counter Fraud Team Manager will then make a recommendation based on
the evidence for consideration by the Head of Devon Audit Partnership in accordance with the
Public Interest test. Ultimate decision making lies with Devon County Councils Head of Legal.

9. Legislative Framework
9.1 These guidelines take into account the requirements of the following legislation:•

The Social Security Administration Act 1992

•

The Social Security Administration (Fraud) Act 1997

Page 143

15

Agenda Item 9
•

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000

•

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984

•

Data Protection Act 2018

•

Local Government Act 2000

•

Criminal Procedures Investigation Act 1996

•

Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994

•

Human Rights Act 1998

•

Fraud Act 2006

•

Theft Act 1968 & 1978

•

Prevention of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013

•

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (POCA)

•

Equality Act 2010

10. Sanctions available to the Local Authority
10.1 When the Local Authority is able to prove an offence beyond reasonable doubt, or the
offender makes a full
confession that they have committed a criminal offence against the
authority, the Council has the following sanctions available to it:
•

Administer a Local Authority Formal Caution

•

Administer a fixed penalty

•

Prosecution through the Magistrates Court

•

Seizure and liquidation of assets via POCA

11. Standards of Evidence
11.1The Council will use the most appropriate deterrent against future fraudulent activity. This
requires each referred case to be looked at on its individual merits; making reference to any previous
sanction or conviction if applicable, before deciding on any further action.
11.2Prosecution and the alternatives to prosecution have to follow the rules of law. Criminal
offences have to be proved “beyond reasonable doubt” and not on the “balance of probability” rules
applied to civil matters.
11.3Substantive evidence is essential before the Council can determine if a sanction is justified.
Evidence must be legally admissible and put forward in a legally acceptable form. The Council must
therefore be satisfied that evidence is of a quality which would withstand scrutiny in a court of law. In
the first instance the Counter Fraud Team Manager will assess the quality of evidence gained in the
course of an investigation, ensuring that the evidence is:
•

Clear

•

Admissible

Page 144

16

Agenda Item 9
•

Substantial

•

Reliable

11.4 The Counter Fraud Team Manager will also check the case in the first instance to ensure:
•
•

That there is sufficient evidence to show action, knowledge and, where appropriate, intent,
by the individual concerned;
That all the evidence has been obtained in accordance with the relevant legislation.

12. Formal Cautions
12.1Formal cautioning is based on the principle that no prosecuting authority is under an obligation
to prosecute. The use of formal cautions is purely administrative and there is no legislation
covering their use. A Formal Caution may only be offered if an admission of guilt has been
made and cannot be offered if the claimant refutes or denies the allegation. It is given as an
official warning to a person who has committed a fraud related offence against the Council.
12.2 A Formal Caution will only be considered and administered when:•

There is sufficient evidence to justify instigating criminal proceedings;

•

The offence has been admitted during an interview under caution (A caution should never
be considered purely on the basis that the claimant “will accept a caution”);

•

The offender has no unspent relevant previous convictions, cautions etc;

•

The person agrees to sign documentation in which they admit the offence;

•

The person agrees to be cautioned and acknowledges the caution;

•

Cautions will not be administered to a person under the age of 18.

12.3 For a case where the Investigating Officer has recommended a caution, the recommendation
will be reviewed and sanctioned by the Counter Fraud Team Manager. The caution may be
administered by the Counter Fraud Team Manager (an appropriate Accredited Counter Fraud
Specialist may administer a caution in the absence of the aforementioned).
12.4 If the person is subsequently prosecuted for another offence, the caution may be cited in
court. If the person refuses to accept a caution, the alternative course of action should be
criminal proceedings. Therefore, the quality of evidence for a caution must be of the same
standard as that required for a prosecution.
13. Administering a fixed or civil penalty
13.1 Currently the DAP Counter Fraud Team has not been authorised to administer fixed or civil
penalties for offences. However, this may change in the future depending on changes in
overarching policies.
Prosecutions
13.2 The Council recognises that it is likely to be appropriate to prosecute where there is clear
evidence that an offence has been committed. In taking such action, the Council will make fair
and consistent decisions, and will ensure that there is sufficient evidence to make conviction
more likely than acquittal.

Page 145

17

Agenda Item 9
13.3 If one or more of the following factors are apparent within a case, that case may be
considered for prosecution as the first option:
•

The defendant is alleged to have committed the offence while under an order of the Court;

•

The gross adjudicated cost to Devon County Council or its partners is £5000 or over. (In line
with the minimum sentencing guidelines for fraud offences);

•

False identities or other personal details have been used;

•

False or forged documentation has been used;

•

Official documents have been altered or falsified;

•

The person concerned occupied a position of trust;

•

The person concerned assisted or encouraged others to commit offences;

•

There is evidence of premeditated or organised fraud;

•

The person concerned has relevant previous convictions;

•

The person has previously been convicted of fraud;

•
•

The offer of a formal caution or other sanction or solution has been refused;
There is evidence of collusion.

14. Factors for consideration by the officer responsible for the final case review and
decision on whether to prosecute
14.1 In all cases where the Investigating Officer and the Counter Fraud Team Manager have,
based on evidence, concluded that an individual should be prosecuted, a number of factors
need to be taken into consideration when deciding whether to instigate the prosecution action.
14.2 The presence within a case of any of the Public Interest factors referred to in 16.1 below may
preclude it from prosecution, downgrade it to an alternative sanction or a decision to take no
further action; each case will be assessed individually.

15. Public Interest
15.1 If the evidence obtained justifies proceedings, the Council must then consider whether this
would be in the public interest, taking into account The Code for Crown Prosecutors which
gives guidance on the general principles to be applied when making a decision regarding
prosecutions.
15.2 Common factors include:
•

Age

•

Social factors

•

Mental illness

•

Physical illness

•

Voluntary disclosure

•

Technical factors

Page 146

18

Agenda Item 9
16. Summary
16.1 The guidelines outlined in this strategy cover the main areas that the Council consider when
dealing with alleged fraudulent activity. As well as the above Devon County Council is
committed to improving fraud awareness throughout its own organisation and those of its
partners.
16.2 Whilst the Council appreciates the majority of people are honest, it will continue to fight abuse
of the ‘Public Purse’ by those who falsely claim/apply for money/property/support to which
they are not entitled. All investigations will be undertaken by trained staff that will respect the
rights of all customers, abide by the law and act in the public interest.

Page 147

19

